
1 

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
FULL BOARD SPECIAL MEETING 

July 13, 2023 
5:30 P.M. 

CITY HALL, HEARING ROOM # 1 
ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA  

OAKLAND, CA 94612 

AGENDA 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
The public may observe or participate in this meeting in many ways. 

OBSERVE: 
• To observe, the public may view the televised video conference by viewing KTOP
channel 10 on Xfinity (Comcast) or ATT Channel 99 and locating City of Oakland
KTOP – Channel 10
• To observe the meeting by video conference, please click on the link below:
When: Jul 13, 2023 05:30 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada)
Topic: HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD FULL
BOARD MEETING- July 13, 2023
Please click the link below to join the webinar:
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85298483623
Or One tap mobile : +16699009128,,85298483623# US (San Jose)
+16694449171,,85298483623#, US Or Telephone: Dial(for higher quality, dial a
number based on your current location): +1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose), +1 669
444 9171 US, +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma), +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston), +1
719 359 4580 US, +1 253 205 0468 US, +1 689 278 1000 US, +1 301 715 8592
US (Washington DC), +1 305 224 1968 US, +1 309 205 3325 US, +1 312 626
6799 US (Chicago), +1 360 209 5623 US, +1 386 347 5053 US, +1 507 473 4847
US, +1 564 217 2000 US, +1 646 558 8656 US (New York), +1 646 931 3860 US
Webinar ID: 852 9848 3623
    International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdoVFJ5L5 

The Zoom link is to view/listen to the meeting only, not for participation.  

PARTICIPATION/COMMENT: 
There is one way to submit public comments: 
• To participate/comment during the meeting, you must attend in-person.
Comments on all agenda items will be taken during public comment at the
beginning of the meeting. Comments for items not on the agenda will be taken
during open forum towards the end of the meeting.

If you have any questions, please email hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov 

000001



2 

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD MEETING 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. ROLL CALL

3. PUBLIC COMMENT

a. Comments on all agenda items will be taken at this time. Comments 
for items not on the agenda will be taken during open forum.

4. CONSENT ITEMS

a. Approval of Board Minutes, 5/11/2023 (pp. 4-10)

5. APPEALS*

a. T23-0011, Rattanamongkhoun v. Fong (pp. 67-133)

b. L23-0001, Ruelas v. Tenants (pp. 134-307)

c. T22-0124, Benafield v. Equity Avg. LLC (pp. 308-518)

6. RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND AMENDMENTS TO THE RENT 
ADJUSTMENT REGULATIONS (pp. 11-51)

7. AUTHORIZATION FOR CHAIR INGRAM & MEMBER DEBOER TO 
PRESENT TENANT FILING REQUIREMENT RESOLUTION TO
CITY COUNCIL

8. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

a. Board Training Session—Robert’s Rules of Order (pp. 52-66)

9. SCHEDULING AND REPORTS

10.  OPEN FORUM

11.ADJOURNMENT

*Staff appeal summaries will be available at the Rent Program website and the Clerk’s office

at least 72 hours prior to the meeting pursuant to O.M.C. 2.20.080.C and 2.20.090

As a reminder, alternates in attendance (other than those replacing an absent board 
member) will not be able to take any action, such as with regard to the consent 
calendar. 

Accessibility:  Contact us to request disability-related accommodations, American 
Sign Language (ASL), Spanish, Cantonese, Mandarin, or another language interpreter 
at least five (5) business days before the event. Rent Adjustment Program (RAP) staff 
can be contacted via email at RAP@oaklandca.gov or via phone at (510) 238-3721. 
California relay service at 711 can also be used for disability-related 
accommodations.  

Si desea solicitar adaptaciones relacionadas con discapacidades, o para pedir un 
intérprete de en Español, Cantones, Mandarín o de lenguaje de señas (ASL) por favor 

000002



3  

envié un correo electrónico a RAP@oaklandca.gov o llame al (510) 238-3721 o 711 
por lo menos cinco días hábiles antes de la reunión.   
 

需要殘障輔助設施, 手語, 西班牙語, 粵語或國語翻譯服務, 請在會議前五個工作天電

郵  RAP@oaklandca.gov 或致電 (510) 238-3721 或711 California relay service.  

 

000003



 
1  

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
FULL BOARD MEETING 

May 11, 2023 
7:00 P.M. 

CITY HALL 
1 FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, HEARING ROOM #1 

 OAKLAND, CA 94612 

MINUTES  

 1.  CALL TO ORDER 
 
The Board meeting was administered in-person by B. Lawrence-McGowan from 
the Rent Adjustment Program (RAP), Housing and Community Development 
Department. B. Lawrence-McGowan explained the procedure for conducting the 
meeting. The HRRRB meeting was called to order by Chair Ingram at 7:05 p.m. 
 

 2.  ROLL CALL 
 

MEMBER STATUS PRESENT ABSENT EXCUSED 

R. NICKENS, JR.  Tenant X   

D. WILLIAMS Tenant X   

J. DEBOER Tenant Alt.   X 

M. GOOLSBY Tenant Alt.   X 
D. INGRAM Undesignated X            

C. OSHINUGA  Undesignated X            

Vacant Undesignated     

M. ESCOBAR Undesignated 
Alt. 

X   

Vacant Undesignated 
Alt. 

   

 D. TAYLOR   Landlord  X*            

 Vacant   Landlord    
 Vacant Landlord Alt.        
 K. SIMS Landlord Alt. X        

  *Member Taylor joined the meeting at 7:11 pm 

 

Staff Present 

 Braz Shabrell   Deputy City Attorney 
 Linda Moroz    Hearing Officer (RAP) 
 Briana Lawrence-McGowan Administrative Analyst II (RAP) 
  
 

000004



 
2  

 3.  PUBLIC COMMENT 

a. No members of the public spoke during public comment. 

 

 4.  CONSENT ITEMS 

a. Approval of Board Minutes, 4/13/2023 and Panel Minutes, 4/20/2023: 
Member R. Nickens moved to approve the Board Minutes from 4/13/2023 
and the Panel Minutes from 4/20/2023. Member K. Sims seconded the 
motion. 
 

The Board voted as follows:  
 

Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, M. Escobar, K. Sims, D. Williams,  
R. Nickens 

Nay:   None 
Abstain:  None 

The minutes were approved. 

5. APPEALS* 

a. T19-0186/T19-0235, Didrickson v. Dang/Commonwealth Company 
 
Appearances:               Ted Dang Owner  
        Carlos & Glenda Didrickson Tenants  

 
This case involved an owner appeal of a remand decision that partially granted 
the tenants’ petition for decreased housing services. The tenants filed 2 petitions 
in 2019 that were eventually consolidated. At the first hearing, the list of 
decreased housing services alleged by the tenants was condensed and limited to 
three issues based on the fact that other issues had been addressed and 
decided in prior hearings. The three issues that were addressed in the first 
hearing were the gas heater, smoke and carbon monoxide detectors, and the 
electric breaker. At the first hearing in 2019, all three claims were denied, based 
primarily on the owner’s testimony that the issues had all been repaired. The 
tenants appealed and the case came before the Board in 2020. The Board voted 
to remand the case to the Hearing Officer to address the issues that were listed 
in the 2019 Notice of Violation and to determine if they constituted decreased 
housing services. The parties were permitted to submit additional evidence prior 
to the remand hearing, which both parties did.  
 
The remand hearing took place in October 2021. The Hearing Officer granted 
decreased housing service awards for the three items that are listed in the Notice 
of Violation. This included a leak from the heater, broken patio door handle, and 

000005



 
3  

the electric breaker. The Hearing Officer’s finding was based on the Notice of 
Violation and subsequent re-inspection notices that indicated that the issues had 
not been abated. The owner now appeals the remand decision regarding the 
door handle and the leak. The owner appeal does not contest the third item 
regarding the electric breaker. The following issue was presented to the Board: 
 

1.) Were the Hearing Officer’s findings and the remand decision regarding the 
leak and the door handle supported by substantial evidence? 

 
The owner contended that there are three issues involved in this appeal and that 
the first one involves the patio door lock. The owner argued that the reason that 
the lock is broken is because Mr. Didrickson has been using the door although 
he’s not supposed to. The owner contended that the tenant has filed 14 tenant 
petitions, and that seven Hearing Officers have issued decisions, but the 
decisions have not been followed. The owner argued that the patio door leads to 
the roof, and that nobody is allowed to be on the roof—as it's a new roof that 
replaced an older one because it was leaking into the unit. The owner contended 
that the deck that Mr. Didrickson was using before had to be removed because it 
was an illegal deck, the owner was required to remove it, and this area is now the 
roof. The owner argued that they wanted to seal the patio door so nobody could 
go onto the roof, which was previously the deck—however, Mr. Didrickson has 
resisted the owners’ efforts to do that and continues to use the roof as the deck. 
The owner contended that they have pictures that show plants, furniture, and 
cameras—and that each month, Mr. Didrickson deducts $298.33 because he 
doesn't have a deck anymore, even though he's still using the roof as the deck.  
 
The owner contended that the second issue is the leak from the heater vent. The 
owner argued that they have had three contractors check the vent: a heater 
contractor, handyman, and a sheet metal person—and they could find no leaks. 
The owner contended that Mr. Didrickson claims to have a video of the leak 
when it rains, but the owner has not seen the video. The owner argued that part 
of the problem is that they do not communicate and every time the owner asks 
Mr. Didrickson for something, a response is never received. The owner argued 
that the tenants don’t tell the owners what maintenance is required and that the 
tenants’ claims are not habitability issues—they're minor maintenance issues.  
 
The owner contended that the third issue is that they don't know what to do. The 
owner argued that hearing decisions have required the tenants to pay a certain 
amount—however, they don’t pay that amount, they pay what they want, and 
now they owe over $12,000 in rent. The owner argued that the tenants have 
claimed several times that every time they use their microwave, and the oven is 
on, the electric circuit blows and they have no power—however, this was 
checked on by an electrician and they determined that since the building is an 
older building and was built in 1950s, if you overload the circuit, the circuit will 

000006



 
4  

pop. The owner contended that in one of the cases that the tenants previously 
filed, a Hearing Officer came out and turned on several appliances and kept them 
on for a while and they did not pop—therefore, the tenants were recommended 
to use a different plug to install the microwave oven. The owner argued that since 
then, the tenants have not complained and if the electrical problem has 
continued, the tenants haven’t informed him; and that the tenants continue to 
disregard the prior issued hearing decisions, and that it’s not fair. 
 
The tenants contended that in the previous appeal hearing, the Board asked Mr. 
Dang if he had cured the violations and Mr. Dang was silent about it. The tenants 
argued that the patio door was broken before they took the deck away and that in 
previous hearings, Mr. Dang said that the tenants have a right to use the roof as 
their patio. The tenants contended that one of Mr. Dang’s colleagues said if 
they’re on the roof and using it as a patio, since they know it’s no longer a patio, 
it will be their fault if they fall. The tenants argued that the reason the owner 
removed the deck is because he put up a chimney and didn't have a permit for it, 
so they called the City building inspector, which resulted in a red tag being 
placed on the building.  
 
The tenants argued that when the City building inspector came to check the 
electrical, everything turned off in the apartment except the stove, and that to 
access the main breaker, they were required to go downstairs into the basement. 
The tenants contended that a licensed electrician has never came to check on 
the issue and that during the last hearing, they tried to show a video of the vent 
leaking but the Hearing Officer at the time didn't allow them to show the video. 
The tenants argued that the City building inspector supported the tenants’ claims 
and that the owner has no standing in this appeal because he didn't show up to 
the hearing, nor did he provide a written reason as to why he didn't show. The 
tenants argued that an appeal requirement is that if you didn't attend the hearing, 
you should give a written statement in your appeal as to why you didn’t, and the 
owner did not do that.  
 
After parties’ arguments, questions to the parties, and Board discussion, Vice 
Chair Oshinuga moved to affirm the Hearing Officer’s decision. Member R. 
Nickens seconded the motion. 

 

The Board voted as follows:  
 

Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, M. Escobar, K. Sims, D. Taylor, 
D. Williams, R. Nickens 

Nay:  None 
Abstain:  None 

The motion was approved.       

000007



 
5  

b. T22-0202, Joseph v. Jones 
 
Appearances:         Kim Roehn Owner Representative 
    Michael Joseph Tenant  
 

This case involved an administrative decision that granted a tenant’s petition 
contesting a single rent increase. Administrative decisions are decisions that are 
issued without a hearing, usually because the issues can be decided on the 
papers alone, there's no material facts and dispute, and/or there's a fundamental 
flaw with the filings. In this case, the tenant petition was contesting a single rent 
increase and the owner responded by alleging that the unit is exempt from the 
Rent Adjustment Program as a condo. The administrative decision was issued on 
the grounds that the owner was allegedly missing documentation with their 
response—therefore, the owner’s response was disregarded. The following 
issues were presented to the Board: 
 
1.) Was this properly decided as an administrative decision? If the unit is in fact 

exempt from the Rent Adjustment Program (RAP) as the owner alleges, RAP 
has no jurisdiction, and the rent increase would not have been unlawful, and 
the unit would not be subject to the rent increase moratorium.  
 

2.) Was the owner’s response insufficient and was the Hearing Officer justified in 
disregarding the owner's response? 

 
The owner representative contended that the administrative decision is invalid 
under state and local law, and it is inconsistent with prior RAP decisions. The 
owner representative argued that the owner is requesting that the administrative 
decision be reversed in full, and that the tenant’s petition be dismissed. The 
owner representative contended that RAP personnel have a duty to exercise 
basic due diligence to confirm they are acting within the bounds of their authority 
under the code and that this consideration is fundamental to party's due process 
rights. The owner representative argued that under Oakland Municipal Code, rent 
control rules only apply to covered units, they do not apply to exempt units. The 
owner representative contended that condominiums are a common and well-
known exemption under the code and under California's law, known as Costa 
Hawkins and that the property at issue here is a condominium. The owner 
representative argued that the condo has its own assessor’s parcel number, was 
purchased as a single unit by the owner in 1979, and it is alienable and separate 
from the title to any other dwelling unit under Costa Hawkins—therefore, it's 
exempt from Oakland's RAP ordinance.  
 
 
The owner representative argued that the administrative decision is void by law 
because RAP has no jurisdiction over the unit—and that the owner did in fact 
submit a properly filed and timely response both by mail and via the online RAP 

000008



 
6  

portal. The owner representative contended that the filing was confirmed as 
being received by RAP, and that it stated that this is an exempt property both on 
the response form and in the supporting documentation—which included the 
business tax certificate, tax documentation, and history showing the unit as a 
condo—including the grant deed, property tax bills, and proof of service on the 
tenant. The owner representative argued that despite this, a deficiency notice 
was issued to the owner stating that none of the above documentation had been 
filed—which was incorrect.  
 
The owner representative argued that when a unit is exempt, Hearing Officers 
are required to dismiss the petition—regardless of the submission of those 
supposedly missing documents, and that RAP does not have authority to take 
any other action. The owner representative contended that the owner re-filed the 
executed proof of service for the second time—however, the Hearing Officer then 
issued an administrative decision, which is a decision without a hearing. The 
owner representative argued that the decision was in favor of the tenant, striking 
down the rent increase and citing the City’s rent increase moratorium—however, 
the owner is respectfully requesting for the decision be reversed and for the rent 
increase be reinstated effective of the date of the original notice. The owner 
representative contended that the 3% CPI rent increase limit does not apply to 
exempt units, that the unit was exempt, and that the owner is also requesting that 
if the Board remands this case for any further action, that a new Hearing Officer 
be assigned—which is a party's automatic right under California law.  
 
The tenant contended that although the property is a condo, they do not have the 
expertise and the information required to make a determination about whether 
the condo is exempt from RAP. The tenant argued that their understanding is 
that it is currently covered by RAP, that it's not exempt, and that they have no 
material evidence which proves otherwise. The tenant contended that they were 
an excellent tenant, paid rent on time, and treated the apartment like it was their 
home up until they received the rent increase notice. The tenant argued that the 
rental was set up to maximize the income of the owner—who lives halfway 
across the country in Texas and has the ability to hire a lawyer.  
 
The tenant contended that the Rent Adjustment Program limits rent increases to 
the annual CPI, which was 3% in 2022—however, the property manager raised 
the rent by about 9%, which is three times the CPI. The tenant argued that the 
rent increase was illegal for that reason, assuming that the condo falls under the 
Rent Adjustment Program. The tenant contended that this situation forced them 
to move out and that the prices of rentals in the surrounding area are much lower 
than what the rent was raised to. The tenant argued that they could get a two-
bedroom for the price that the rent was raised to, and that due to the high cost, 
they were forced to find another place to live. 
 
 

000009



 
7  

After parties’ arguments, questions to the parties, and Board discussion, Vice 
Chair Oshinuga moved to vacate the Hearing Officer’s Administrative Decision 
and to remand the case back to the Hearing Officer for a full hearing and to 
consider the property owner’s full response. Member R. Nickens seconded the 
motion. 
 

The Board voted as follows:  
 

Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, M. Escobar, K. Sims, D. Taylor, 
D. Williams, R. Nickens 

Nay:  None 
Abstain:  None 

The motion was approved. 

6. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a. Briana Lawrence-McGowan announced to the Board that beginning on 
5/25/2023, the Board will be having special meetings on the 2nd and 4th 
Thursdays of the month, which will begin at 5:30pm. 

b. Chair Ingram announced to the Board that he’s still working with the Office 
of the City Attorneys on the proposed regulations and that they will be 
brought back to the Board very soon. 

 

7. OPEN FORUM 

a. No members of the public spoke during open forum. 

 

8. ADJOURMENT 

a. The meeting was adjourned at 8:18 p.m. 

000010



1 

 

Approved as to form and legality 

 
 

__________________________ 

CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 

 
CITY OF OAKLAND 

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND 

RELOCATION BOARD (HRRRB) 

 

RESOLUTION NO. _______________  

 
INTRODUCED BY BOARD CHAIR DENARD INGRAM 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND AMENDMENT OF THE 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM REGULATIONS TO (1) 

EXTEND AMORTIZATION PERIOD FOR MANDATORY 

SEISMIC RETROFITS TO 25 YEARS; (2) REDUCE 

ARGUMENT TIME TO FIVE MINUTES PER PARTY; (3) 

REMOVE APPEARANCE REQUIREMENT FOR 

APPELLANT AT APPEAL HEARINGS; (4) ALLOW NON-

VOTING ALTERNATES TO PARTICIPATE IN BOARD 

MEETINGS IN NON-VOTING CAPACITY; (5) ADD GOOD 

CAUSE HEARINGS FOR FAILURE TO APPEAR AT 

HEARINGS; (6) CODIFY EXISTING PROCEDURAL 

PRACTICES IN REGULATIONS; AND (7) MAKE OTHER 

CLARIFYING AND REORGANIZATION CHANGES 

 

WHEREAS, the Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board may make 

recommendations to the City Council or appropriate City Council committee pertaining to 

Chapter 8.22 of the Oakland Municipal Code (O.M.C.) or City housing policy when requested to 

do so by the City Council or when the Board otherwise acts to do so, pursuant to O.M.C. 8.22.040 

D.4; and 

WHEREAS, on January 22, 2019, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 13516, to 

require mandatory seismic evaluation and retrofit of certain multifamily residential buildings; and 

 

WHEREAS, in Ordinance No. 13516, the City Council directed the Rent Board to revise 

the capital improvements amortization schedule in the Rent Program Regulations to provide an 

000011



2 

 

amortization period for Mandatory Seismic Capital Improvements that conforms with the Rent 

Board’s final motion passed during Item 5 of their July 9, 2015 meeting; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 21, 2022, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 13695, which 

established a rent registry and requires evidence of registration before submitting an owner petition 

or an owner response to a tenant petition; and now, therefore, be it 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation Section 8.22.120.I. provides that if an 

appellant fails to appear at an appeal hearing, the Board will consider the appeal dropped and will 

issue a decision dismissing the appeal, subject to the appellant showing good cause for the failure 

to appear; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.120.D.2. provides that 

unless the Board or Appeal Panel votes otherwise, each party will have fifteen (15) minutes to 

present argument on or in opposition to the appeal; and 

WHEREAS, on October 20, 2020, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 13618 

(Efficiency Ordinance), to among other things, streamline Rent Board meetings by allowing the 

Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board (Rent Board) to limit argument time for each 

party to six (6) minutes; and 

WHEREAS, to make the appeal process more efficient and to minimize time commitment 

for parties to appeals, the Rent Board wishes to make appearances at appeals voluntary and reduce 

argument time to six (6) minutes per side; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.100.B provides that of a 

petitioner fails to appear at a properly noticed mediation, the Hearing Officer may dismiss the 

case; and 

WHEREAS, because mediations are voluntary, the Rent Board wishes to amend the 

regulations to allow parties who miss a mediation the opportunity to receive a hearing on the 

petition; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.110.B provides that if a 

petitioner fails to appear at a properly noticed hearing, the Hearing Officer may dismiss the case; 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.110 does not currently 

outline any good-cause relief for a party that fails to appear at a properly noticed hearing except 

through the appeal process; and 

WHEREAS, either party can potentially wait an extended period of time for a scheduled 

appeal hearing just to address their good cause evidence, depending on the number of pending 

petitions; and 

WHEREAS, significant wait times for either party to be able to present their good-cause 

evidence can, in some occasions, significantly impact the relief that can be granted by the Appeal 

000012



3 

 

Body or by the Hearing Officer; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.040 does not currently 

address Alternate Board Members and their participation in scheduled Board meetings unless they 

are filling in for regular members; and 

WHEREAS, allow non-voting alternates to participate in board meetings would allow 

alternates to learn about the Rent Board in a non-voting capacity; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.090.B.1 provides that A 

Tenant petition or response to an Owner petition is not considered filed unless the tenant submits 

evidence that the tenant is current on rent or lawfully withholding rent; and 

WHEREAS, consistent with the Rent Board’s recommendation to City Council to remove 

the current on rent requirement from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance, the Rent Board wishes to 

remove the requirement for the tenant be current on rent before filing a petition from the Rent 

Adjustment Regulations; and 

WHEREAS, the Rent Board wishes to revise the Rent Adjustment Regulations to clarify 

rent board procedures from case precedents and codify them in regulations; 

WHEREAS, the Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board seeks to ensure that all 

covered Oakland tenants and property owners have equitable access to the protections and relief 

provided by the Rent Adjustment Ordinance; now, therefore, be it 

 

RESOLVED, That the Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board recommends the 

City Council amend the Rent Adjustment Program Regulations by adopting the attached 

amendments to the Rent Adjustment Regulations; 
 

RESOLVED:  That the Rent Board wishes to amend the Rent Adjustment Regulations 

consistent with these ordinance changes; and be it 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the Rent Board approves the attached Rent Adjustment 

Regulation amendments and forwards the attached regulation amendments to City Council for 

approval; and be it  

 

000013



4 

Proposed Amendments to the Rent Adjustment Regulations Sections 8.22.020-040, 

8.22.070, 8.22.090-120, and Appendix A. (additions are shown as double underline and 

deletions are shown as strikethrough): 
 
8.22.020  DEFINITIONS.  

 
“Base occupancy level” means the number of tenants occupying the covered unit as principal 

residence as of June 16, 2020, with the owner’s knowledge, or allowed by the lease or rental agreement 
effective as of June 16, 2020, whichever is greater, except that, for units that had an initial rent 
established on or after June 17, 2020, “base occupancy level” means the number of tenants allowed by the 
lease or rental agreement entered into at the beginning of the current tenancy. When there is a new lease 
or rental agreement solely as a result of adding one or more additional occupants to the lease or rental 
agreement, the “beginning of the current tenancy” refers to the tenancy existing prior to the new lease or 
rental agreement regarding the additional occupant(s). 

 
“Base Rent” means the monthly rental rate before the latest proposed increase. If the rental 

agreement provides for a period of “free” or discounted rent within its initial term, the base rent shall be 
reduced to account for the “free” or discounted period. 

 
“Imputed interest” means the average of the 10 year United States treasury bill rate and the 10 

year LIBOR swap rate for the quarter prior to the date the permits for the improvements were obtained 
plus an additional one and one-half percent, to be taken as simple interest. The Rent Program will post 
the quarterly interest rates allowable. 

  
“Primary tenant” means a tenant who resides in a covered unit, is not an owner of record of the 

property, and charges rent to or receives rent from one or more subtenants in the covered unit. 
 
“Principal Residence” means the one dwelling place where an individual primarily resides. Such 

occupancy does not require that the individual be physically present in the dwelling place at all times or 
continuously, but the dwelling place must be the individual’s usual or intended place of return. A 
Principal Residence is distinguishable from one kept primarily for secondary residential occupancy, such 
as a pied-a-terre or vacation home, or non-residential use, such as storage or commercial use. A 
determination of Principal Residence shall be based on the totality of circumstances, which may include, 
but are not limited to, the following factors: (1) whether the individual carries on basic living activities at 
the subject premises; (2) whether the individual maintains another dwelling and, if so, the amount of time 
that the individual spends at each dwelling place and indications, if any, that residence in one dwelling is 
temporary; (3) the subject premises are listed as the individual’s place of residence on any motor vehicle 
registration, driver’s license, voter registration, or with any other public agency, including Federal, State 
and local taxing authorities; (4) utilities are billed to and paid by the individual at the subject premises; 
(5) all or most of the individual’s personal possessions have been moved into the subject premises; (6) a 
homeowner’s tax exemption for the individual has not been filed for a different property; (7) the subject 
premises are the place the individual normally returns to as his/her home, exclusive of military service, 
hospitalization, vacation, family emergency, travel necessitated by employment or education, 
incarceration, or other reasonable temporary periods of absence. 

  
“Staff” means the staff appointed by City Administrator to administer the Rent Adjustment 

Program. 
 
“Subtenant,” for purposes of Regulation 8.22.025, means a tenant who resides with and pays rent 

to one or more primary tenants, rather than directly to the owner to whom the primary tenant(s) pay rent, 
for the housing services provided to the subtenant. 

 

  

000014



5 

8.22.030  EXEMPTIONS.  

A.  Dwelling Units That Are Not Covered Units 

1. In order to be a Covered Unit, the Owner must be receiving Rent in return for the occupancy of the 
dwelling unit.  

a. Rent need not be cash, but can be in the form of “in-kind” services or materials that would 
ordinarily be the Owner’s responsibility.  

i. For example, a person who lives in a dwelling unit and paints the premises, repairs 
damage, or upgrades the unit is considered to be paying Rent unless the person caused the 
damage.  
b. Payment of some of expenses of the dwelling unit even though not all costs are paid is Rent.  

i. Payment of all or a portion of the property taxes or insurance.  
ii. Payment of utility costs that are not directly associated with the use of the unit 

occupied.  
2. If California law determines that an “employee of the Owner”, including a manager who resides in the 
Owner’s property, is not a Tenant, then the dwelling unit occupied by such person is not subject to OMC 
Chapter 8.22 so long as the person is an employee and continues to reside in the unit.  

 

B.  Types of Dwelling Units Exempt  

1. Subsidized units. Dwelling units whose rents are subsidized by a governmental unit, including the 
federal Section 8 voucher program.  
 
2. Newly constructed dwelling units (receiving a certificate of occupancy after January 1, 1983).  

a. Newly constructed units include legal conversions of uninhabited spaces not used by Tenants, 
such as:  

i. Garages;  
ii. Attics;  
iii. Basements;  
iv. Spaces that were formerly entirely commercial.  

b. Any dwelling unit that is exempt as newly constructed under applicable interpretations of the 
new construction exemption pursuant to Costa-Hawkins (California Civil Code Section 1954.52).  

c. Dwelling units not eligible for the new construction exemption include:  
i. Live/work space where the work portion of the space was converted into a separate 

dwelling unit;  
ii. Common area converted to a separate dwelling unit. 

 
3. Substantially rehabilitated buildings.  

a. In order to qualify for the substantial rehabilitation exemption, the rehabilitation work must be 
completed within a two (2) year period after the issuance of the building permit for the work unless the 
Owner demonstrates good cause for the work exceeding two (2) years.  

b. For the substantial rehabilitation exemption, the entire building must qualify for the exemption 
and not just individual unitsReserved.  

 
4. Dwelling Units Exempt Under Costa-Hawkins. Costa-Hawkins addresses dwelling units that are 
exempt under state law. The Costa Hawkins exemptions are contained at California Civil Code Section 
1954.52. The text of Costa-Hawkins is attached as an appendix to OMC Chapter 8.22.  

 

C.  Certificates of Exemption   

1. Whenever an Owner seeks a Certificate of Exemption the following procedures apply:  
a. The petition cannot be decided on a summary basis and may only be decided after a hearing on 

the merits;  

000015



6 

b. Staff may intervene in the matter for the purpose of better ensuring that all facts relating to the 
exemption are presented to the Hearing Officer;  

c. In addition to a party’s right to appeal, Staff or the Hearing Officer may appeal the decision to 
the Rent Board; and,  

d. A Certificate of Exemption shall be issued in the format specified by Government Code Section 
27361.6 for purposes of recording with the County Recorder.  
2. In the event that a previously issued Certificate of Exemption is found to have been issued based on 
fraud, or mistake, or is no longer valid due to an intervening material change in law or circumstances, and 
thereby rescinded, the Staff shall record a rescission of the Certificate of Exemption against the affected 
real property with the County Recorder.  

 

  

000016



7 

8.22.040  THE BOARD.  

A.  Meetings  

1. Notice. Meetings shall be noticed and the agenda posted in accordance with the Ralph M. 

Brown Act (California Government Code Sections 54950, et. seq. (“Brown Act”) and Sunshine 

Ordinance (OMC Chapter 2.20).)  

2. Regular Meetings. The Board or an Appeal Panel shall meet regularly on the second and 

fourth Thursdays of each month, unless cancelled. Rent Program staff is authorized to schedule 

these regular meetings either for the full Board or for an Appeal Panel. 

3. Special Meetings. Meetings called by the Mayor or City Administrator, or meetings scheduled 

by the Board for a time and place other than regular meetings are to be designated Special 

Meetings. The agenda of Special Meetings shall be restricted to those matters for which the 

meeting was originally called and no additional matters may be added to the agenda.  

4. Adjourned or Rescheduled Meetings. A meeting may be adjourned to a time and place to 

complete the agenda if voted by the Board members present. A rescheduled meeting may be 

held when a quorum cannot be convened for a regular meeting or when a quorum votes to 

substitute another time and/or place for a scheduled meeting. Notice of change of meeting time 

and/or place shall be sent to the City Clerk and absent Board members and provided in 

accordance with the Brown Act and Sunshine Ordinance.  

5. Time of Meetings. Board meetings shall start at 76 p.m. and end by 10:00 p.m. unless some 

other time is set in advance or the meeting is extended by a vote of the Board.  

6. Location of Meetings. The Board meetings shall be held at City Hall, One Frank H. Ogawa 

Plaza, Oakland, CA 94612, unless otherwise designated.  

7. Agenda. The agenda for each meeting shall be posted at such time and places as required by 

the Brown Act and Sunshine Ordinance.  

8. Board meetings shall be conducted in accordance with “Robert’s Rules of Order (Newly 

Revised),” unless modified by these Regulations, requirements of the Brown Act or Sunshine 

Ordinance, or the Board.  

9. Open to Public. The meetings shall be open to the public in accordance with the Brown Act 

and the Sunshine Ordinance, except for circumstances where the Brown Act or Sunshine 

Ordinance permits the Board to address a matter in closed session, such as litigation or 

personnel matters.  

10. Board Vacations. The Board may schedule dates during the year when no regular Board 

meetings may be held so that the entire Board may take vacations. The Board must schedule 

vacation times at least two (2) months prior to the date of the vacation time.  

11. Alternate Board Members. Alternate board members may participate in discussion and 

deliberations, but will only be allowed to vote when filling in for a regular member who is not 

000017



8 

present or who has been excused from consideration of or voting on a matter by the Board. 

B.  Quorum and Voting  

1. Four Board members constitutes a quorum of the Board.  

2. Decisions of the Board. For the Board to make a decision on the first time a matter comes 

before the Board, the quorum must include at least one of each of the three categories of Board 

members (Tenant, residential rental property Owner, and one who is neither of the foregoing). If 

a matter cannot be decided because at least one of each of the three categories of Board 

members is not present, the matter will be considered a second time at a future meeting where 

the matter can be decided even if at least one member from each category is not present. A 

majority of the Board members present are required to make decisions, provided a quorum is 

present and sufficient members of each category are present.  

3. A Board member who does not participate in a matter because of a conflict of interest or 

incompatible employment neither counts towards a quorum nor in calculating the number of 

Board members required to make a majority.  

4. Special voting requirements for Just Cause for Eviction regulations enacted as part of partial 

settlement of Kim v. City of Oakland, Alameda County Superior Court Case No. RG03081362 

(the "Settlement Regulations"). 

a. The special voting requirements set out in this subsection apply only to the Just Cause 

for Eviction regulations set out in Exhibit A. 

b.  The Settlement Regulations may be amended only by affirmative vote of at least five 

(5) members of the Rent Board, provided that at least one member from each class of Rent 

Board members (homeowner, landlord, and tenant) affirmatively votes to modify the Settlement 

Regulations. 

c.  Before the Board adopts any amendments to the Settlement Regulations, the Board 

must introduce the proposed amendments at a meeting, hold a public hearing at which 

members of the public and interested organizations, including the Rental Housing Association 

of Northern Alameda County, Inc. and Just Cause Oakland, are noticed, and the amendments 

can only be considered for adoption at a subsequent meeting. 

d.  After the introduction of proposed amendments to the Settlement Regulations, if the 

Board decides to further consider the adoption of the regulations and sets a public hearing to  do 

so, the Board must also transmit the proposed amendments to the appropriate committee of the 

City Council so the City Council may have the option of commenting on or holding its own 

hearing before the Rent Board votes to adopt or reject the proposed amendments.  If the Council 

elects not to comment on the proposed amendments or does not comment on them within 90 

days after transmittal of the proposed amendments by the Rent Board, the Rent Board may 

proceed to vote on the proposed amendments. 

C.  Officers  

000018



9 

1. The Board shall select a Chair from among the Board members who are neither tenants nor 

residential rental property owners. Each Appeal Panel shall be chaired by the member of that 

panel who is neither a tenant nor a residential rental property owner.  

2. The Board may also select a Vice-Chair (who is neither a Tenant nor an Owner) to act as Chair 

in the Chair’s absence.  

3. The Officers shall serve one-year terms.  

4. The Board shall elect Officers each year at the second meeting in February.  

5. The Chair votes on matters as any other Board member.  

D.  Standing Committees  

The Board may establish standing committees subject to prior approval of the City Council. A 

request to create a standing committee must include:  

1. The staffing costs for the committee; and  

2. The costs of complying with meeting noticing requirements.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

000019



10 

8.22.060  NOTICE OF THE EXISTENCE OF CHAPTER 8.22 REQUIRED AT 

COMMENCEMENT OF TENANCY.  

A. Providing Notice in Multiple Languages 
 1. The requirement to provide the Notice of the Existence of Chapter 8.22 Required at 
Commencement of Tenancy in multiple languages took effect on September 210, 2016 and only applies to 
new tenancies that commenced on or after that date. 
 2. No Owner will be penalized for failing to comply with this requirement until the later of 
sixty (60) days after the Rent Program makes a general announcement of the requirement or all the 
translations are available on the Rent Program website. 
 3. Until September 21, 2017, no Owner will be denied a Rent increase for failing to provide 
the notice in the required languages, unless: 

a.  the Tenant is proficient in one of the non-English languages specified in OMC 
8.22.060 (Spanish or Chinese), and is not proficient in English; 

or 
b. the Owner negotiated the terms of the rental agreement in either Spanish or 

Chinese and failed to give the notice in that language. 

 

  

000020



11 

8.22.070  RENT ADJUSTMENTS FOR OCCUPIED COVERED UNITS.  

A.  Purpose  

This section sets forth the Regulations for a Rent adjustment exceeding the CPI Rent Adjustment and that 
is not authorized as an allowable increase following certain vacancies.  
 

B.  CPI and Banking Rent Adjustments 

5. Rent History/"Banking"  
 

(a) If a landlord chooses to increase rents less than the annual CPI Adjustment [formerly Annual 
Permissible Increase] permitted by the Ordinance, any remaining CPI Rent Adjustment may be carried 
over to succeeding twelve (12) month periods (“Banked”). However, the total of CPI Adjustments 
imposed in any one Rent increase, including the current CPI Rent Adjustment, may not exceed three 
times the allowable CPI Rent Adjustment on the effective date of the Rent Increase notice.  
 

(b) Banked CPI Rent Adjustments may be used together with other Rent justifications, except 
Increased Housing Service Costs and Fair Return, because these justifications replace the current year’s 
CPI increase.  
 

(c) In no event may any banked CPI Rent Adjustment be implemented more than ten years after 
it accrues. 
 

C.  Justifications for a Rent Increase in Excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment or 

Banking 

1. Regulations regarding tThe justifications for a Rent increase in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment or 
Banking are attached as Appendix A to these Regulations.  The justifications are: banking;capital 
improvement costs; uninsured repair costs; increased housing service costs; additional occupant as 
defined by OMC  8.22.020; Tenant does not reside in the unit as their principal residence; and the rent 
increase is necessary to meet constitutional or fair return requirements. 
 

a. Capital Improvement Costs: Capital Improvement Costs are those improvements which 
materially add to the value of the property and appreciably prolong its useful life or adapt it to 
new building codes. Those improvements primarily must benefit the tenant rather than the 
landlord.  
 

(1) Credit for capital improvements will only be given for those improvements which 
have been completed and paid for within the twenty-four (24) month period prior to the date the 
petition for a rent increase based on the improvements is filed.  
 

(2) Eligible capital improvements include, but are not limited to, the following items:  
 
1. Those improvements which primarily benefit the tenant rather than the landlord. (For 

example, the remodeling of a lobby would be eligible as a capital improvement, while the 
construction of a sign advertising the rental complex would not be eligible). However, the 
complete painting of the exterior of a building, and the complete interior painting of internal 
dwelling units are eligible capital improvement costs.  

2. In order for equipment to be eligible as a capital improvement cost, such equipment 
must be permanently fixed in place or relatively immobile (for example, draperies, blinds, 

I 

000021



12 

carpet, sinks, bathtubs, stoves, refrigerators, and kitchen cabinets are eligible capital 
improvements. Hot plates, toasters, throw rugs, and hibachis would not be eligible as capital 
improvements).  

3. Except as set forth in subsection 4, repairs completed in order to comply with the 
Oakland Housing Code may be considered capital improvements.  

4. The following may not be considered as capital improvements:  
a. Repairs for code violations may not be considered capital improvements if the 
Tenant proves the following:  

i. That a repair was performed to correct a Priority 1 or 2 Condition that 
was not created by the Tenant, which may be demonstrated by any of the 
following:  

(a) the condition was cited by a City Building Services Inspector as 
a Priority 1 or 2 Condition;  
(b) the Tenant produces factual evidence to show that had the 
property or unit been inspected by a City Building Services 
Inspector, the Inspector would have determined the condition to 
be a Priority 1 or 2 Condition, but the Hearing Officer may 
determine that in order to decide if a condition is a Priority 1 or 2 
Condition expert testimony is required, in which case the Hearing 
Officer may require such testimony.  

ii. That the tenant  
(a) informed the Owner of the condition in writing;  
(b) otherwise proves that the landlord knew of the conditions, or 
(c) proves that there were exceptional circumstances that 
prohibited the tenant from submitting needed repairs in writing; 
and  

iii. That the Owner failed to repair the condition within a reasonable time 
after the Tenant informed Owner of the condition or the Owner otherwise 
knew of the condition.  
iv. A reasonable time is determined as follows:  

(a) If the condition was cited by a City Building Services Inspector 
and the Inspector required the repairs to be performed within a 
particular time frame, or any extension thereof, the time frame set 
out by the Inspector is deemed a reasonable time; or  
(b) Ninety (90) days after the Owner received notice of the 
condition or otherwise learned of the condition is presumed a 
reasonable time unless either of the following apply:  

(1) the violation remained unabated for ninety (90) days 
after the date of notice to the Owner and the Owner 
demonstrates timely, good faith efforts to correct the 
violation within the ninety the (90) days but such efforts 
were unsuccessful due to the nature of the work or 
circumstances beyond the Owner’s control, or the delay 
was attributable to other good cause; or  
(2) the Tenant demonstrated that the violation was an 
immediate threat to the health and safety of occupants of 
the property, [in which case] fifteen (15) business days is 
presumed a reasonable time unless:  

(i) the Tenant proves a shorter time is reasonable 
based on the hazardous nature of the condition, 
and the ease of correction, or  

000022



13 

(ii) the Owner demonstrates timely, good faith 
efforts to correct the violation within the fifteen (15) 
business days after notice but such efforts were 
unsuccessful due to the nature of the work or 
circumstances beyond the Owner’s control, or the 
delay was attributable to other good cause.  

(c) If an Owner is required to get a building or other City permit to 
perform the work, or is required to get approval from a 
government agency before commencing work on the premises, the 
Owner’s attempt to get the required permit or approval within the 
timelines set out in (i) and (ii) above shall be deemed evidence of 
good faith and the Owner shall not be penalized for delays 
attributable to the action of the approving government agency.  

b. Deferred Maintenance. Costs for work or portion of work that could have been 
avoided by the landlord’s exercise of reasonable diligence in making timely 
repairs after the landlord knew or should reasonably have known of the problem 
that caused the damage leading to the repair claimed as a capital improvement.  

i. Among the factors that may be considered in determining if the 
landlord knew or should reasonably have known of the problem that 
caused the damage:  

(a) Was the condition leading to the repairs outside the tenant’s 
unit or inside the tenant’s unit?  
(b) Did the tenant notify the landlord in writing or use the 
landlord’s procedures for notifying the landlord of conditions that 
might need repairs?  
(c) Did the landlord conduct routine inspections of the property?  
(d) Did the tenant permit the landlord to inspect the interior of the 

unit?  
ii. Examples:  

(a) A roof leaks and, after the landlord knew of the leak, did not 
timely repair the problem and leak causes ceiling or wall damage 
to units that could have been avoided had the landlord acted 
timely to make the repair. In this case, replacement of the roof 
would be a capital improvement, but the repairs to the ceiling or 
wall would not be.  
(b) A problem has existed for an extended period of time visible 
outside tenants’ units and could be seen from a reasonable 
inspection of the property, but the landlord or landlord’s agents 
either had not inspected the property for an unreasonable period 
of time, or did not exercise due diligence in making such 
inspections. In such a case, the landlord should have reasonably 
known of the problem. Annual inspections may be considered a 
reasonable time period for inspections depending on the facts and 
circumstances of the property such as age, condition, and tenant 
complaints.  

iii. Burden of Proof  
(a) The tenant has the initial burden to prove that the landlord 
knew or should have reasonably known of the problem that caused 
the repair.  
(b) Once a tenant meets the burden to prove the landlord knew or 
should have reasonably known, the burden shifts to the landlord 

000023



14 

to prove that the landlord exercised reasonable diligence in 
making timely repairs after the landlord knew or should have 
known of the problem.  

                             c. “Gold-plating” or “Over-improvements” 
   i. Examples: 

(a)  A landlord replaces a Kenmore stove with a Wolf range. In 
such a case, the landlord may only pass on the cost of the 
substantially equivalent replacement. 
(b) A landlord replaces a standard bathtub with a jacuzzi bathtub. 
In such a case, the landlord may only pass on the cost of the 
substantially equivalent replacement. 

   ii. Burden of Proof 
(a)The tenant has the initial burden to prove that the 
improvement is greater in character or quality than existing 
improvements. 
(b) Once a tenant meets the burden to prove that the improvement 
is greater in character or quality than existing improvements, the 
burden shifts to the landlord to prove that the tenant approved the 
improvement in writing, the improvement brought the unit up to 
current building or housing codes, or the improvement did not 
cost more than a substantially equivalent replacement. 

d. Use of a landlord's personal appliances, furniture, etc., or those items inherited 
or borrowed are not eligible for consideration as capital improvements.  
e. Normal routine maintenance and repair of the rental until and the building is 
not a capital improvement cost, but a housing service cost. (For example: while 
the replacement of old screens with new screens would be a capital 
improvement). 
f. Costs for which an Owner is reimbursed (e.g., insurance, court awarded 
damages, subsidies, tax credits, and grants) are not capital improvement costs.  

 
(3) Rent Increases for Capital Improvement costs are calculated according to the 

following rules:  
1. For mixed-use structures, only the percent of residential square footage will be applied 

in the calculations. The same principle shall apply to landlord-occupied dwellings (i.e., exclusion 
of landlord's unit).  

2. Items determined to be capital improvements pursuant to Section 10.2.2. shall be 
amortized over the useful life of the improvement as set out in the Amortization Schedule 
attached as Exhibit 1 to these regulations and the total costs shall be amortized over that time 
period, unless the Rent increase using this amortization would exceed the Rent increase limits 
provided by O.M.C. 8.22.070 A2 or 3. Whenever a Capital Improvement Rent increase alone or 
with any other Rent increases noticed at the same time for a particular Unit exceeds the limits 
set by O.M.C. 8.22.070 A2 or 3, if the Owner elects to recover the portion of the Capital 
Improvement that causes the Rent Increase to exceed the limits set by O.M.C. 8.22.070 A2 or 3, 
the excess can only be recovered by extending the Capital Improvement’s amortization period in 
yearly increments sufficient to cover the excess, and complying with any requirements to notice 
the Tenant of the extended amortization period with the initial Capital Improvement increase. 
The dollar amount of the rent increase justified by Capital Improvements shall be removed from 
the allowable rent at the end of the amortization period.  

3. A monthly Rent increase for a Capital Improvement is determined as follows:  
a. A maximum of seventy percent (70%) of the total cost for the Capital 
Improvement (plus imputed interest calculated pursuant to the formula set forth 

000024



15 

in Regulation 8.22.020) may be passed through to the Tenant;  
b. The amount of the Capital Improvement calculated in a. above is then divided 
equally among the Units that benefit from the Capital Improvement;  
c. The monthly Rent increase is the amount of the Capital Improvement that may 
be passed through as determined above, divided by the number of months the 
Capital Improvement is amortized over for the particular Unit.  

4. If a unit is occupied by an agent of the landlord, this unit must be included when 
determining the average cost per unit. (For example, if a building has ten (10) units, and one is 
occupied by a nonpaying manager, any capital improvement would have to divided by ten (10), 
not nine (9), in determining the average rent increase). This policy applies to all calculations in 
the financial statement which involve average per unit figures.  

5. Undocumented labor costs provided by the landlord cannot exceed 25% of the cost of 
materials.  

6. Equipment otherwise eligible as a Capital Improvement will not be considered if a 
"use fee" is charged (i.e., coin-operated washers and dryers).  

7. Where a landlord is reimbursed for Capital Improvements (i.e., insurance, court-
awarded damages, subsidies, etc.), this reimbursement must be deducted from such Capital 
Improvements before costs are amortized and allocated among the units. For each improvement 
listed on a petition, the landlord must state whether a reimbursement or tax credit is or will be 
received for that improvement. 
 

(4) In some cases, it is difficult to separate costs between rental units; common vs. rental 
areas; commercial vs. residential areas; or housing service costs vs. Capital Improvements. In 
these cases, the Hearing Officer will make a determination on a case-by-case basis.  

 
(5) Interest on Failure to Reduce Capital Improvement Increase After End of 

Amortization Period.  
1. If an Owner fails to reduce a Capital Improvement Rent increase in the month 

following the end of the amortization period for such improvement and the Tenant pays any 
portion of such Rent increase after the end of the amortization period, the Tenant may recover 
interest on the amount overpaid.  

2. The applicable rate of interest for overpaid Capital Improvements shall be the rate 
specified by law for judgments pursuant to California Constitution, Article XV and any 
legislation adopted thereto and shall be calculated at simple interest.  

 
(6) Documentation of improvement costs with proof of payment (i.e., invoices, receipts, 

and/or canceled checks) must be presented for all costs which are being used for justification of 
the proposed rent increase. 

 
(7) Amortization of Capital Improvements. The following schedule shall be used to 

determine the amortization period of the capital improvement: 

 

IMPROVEMENT YEARS 

Air Conditioners 10 

Appliances  

000025



16 

Refrigerator 5 

Stove 5 

Garbage Disposal 5 

Water Heater 5 

Dishwasher 5 

Microwave Oven 5 

Washer/Dryer 5 

Fans 5 

Cabinets 10 

Carpentry 10 

Counters 10 

Doors 10 

Knobs 5 

Screen Doors 5 

Earthquake Expenses  

Architectural and Engineering 

Fees 

5 

Emergency Services  

Clean Up 5 

Fencing and Security 5 

Management 5 

Tenant Assistance 5 

Structural Repair and 

Retrofitting 

 

Foundation Repair 10 

000026



17 

Foundation Replacement 20 

Foundation Bolting 20 

Iron or Steel Work 20 

Masonry-Chimney Repair 20 

Shear Wall Installation 10 

Seismic Retrofit 25 

Electrical Wiring 10 

Elevator 20 

Fencing and Security  

Chain 10 

Block 10 

Wood 10 

Fire Alarm System 10 

Fire Sprinkler System 20 

Fire Escape 10 

Flooring/Floor Covering  

Hardwood 10 

Tile and Linoleum 5 

Carpet 5 

Carpet Pad 5 

Subfloor 10 

Fumigation  

Tenting 5 

Furniture 5 

000027



18 

Automatic Garage Door 

Openers 

10 

Gates  

Chain Link 10 

Wrought Iron 10 

Wood 10 

Glass  

Windows 5 

Doors 5 

Mirrors 5 

  

Heating  

Central 10 

Gas 10 

Electric 10 

Solar 10 

Insulation 10 

Landscaping  

Planting 10 

Sprinklers 10 

Tree Replacement 10 

Lighting  

Interior 10 

Exterior 10 

000028



19 

Locks 5 

Mailboxes 10 

Meters 10 

Plumbing  

Fixtures 10 

Pipe Replacement 10 

Re-Pipe Entire Building 20 

Shower Doors 5 

Painting  

Interior 5 

Exterior 5 

Paving  

Asphalt 10 

Cement 10 

Decking 10 

Plastering 10 

Pumps  

Sump 10 

Railing 10 

Roofing  

Shingle/Asphalt 10 

Built-Up, Tar, and Gravel 10 

Tile and Linoleum 10 

Gutters/Downspouts 10 

000029



20 

Security  

Entry Telephone Intercom 10 

Gates/Doors 10 

Fencing 10 

Alarms 10 

Sidewalks/Walkways 10 

Stairs 10 

Stucco 10 

Tilework 10 

Wallpaper 5 

Window Coverings  

Drapes 5 

Shades 5 

Screens 5 

Awnings 5 

Blinds/Miniblinds 5 

Shutters 5 

 
 
(8) The following describe five major hazard conditions classified as Priorities 1 & 2:  
 
I. MECHANICAL  

Priority 1  
A. Unvented heaters 
B. No combustion chamber, fire or 

vent hazard 
C. Water heaters in sleeping rooms, 

bathrooms 
D. Open gas lines, open flame heaters 

 
 

Priority 2  
A. Damaged gas appliance  
B. Flame impingement, soot  
C. Crimped gas line, rubber gas 

connections  
D. Dampers in gas heater vent pipes, 

no separation or clearance, through 
or near combustible surfaces  

E. Water heater on garage floor  

000030











































41 

Appendix A 

Deleted [Contents moved to Section 8.22.070.] 

FURTHER RESOLVED:  That the Rent Board authorizes the Chair or the Chair’s 

designee to speak in support of the resolution on behalf of the Board at City Council or Committee 

meetings. 

APPROVED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE 

AYES: NICKENS, WILLIAMS, OSHINUGA, ESCOBAR, TAYLOR AND CHAIRPERSON 
INGRAM 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTENTION: 

___________________        ATTEST____________________________ 
Date:           BRIANA LAWRENCE-MCGOWAN 

Rent Adjustment Program, Housing 
& Community Development 
Department 

000051

















Subsidiary 
motions

Are subsidiary to the main motion

Types:

• 1. Table (undebatable)

• 2. Previous question (“call the question”) 
(undebatable)

• 3. Limit or extend debate (undebatable)

• 4. Postpone 

• 5. Refer to committee

• 6. Amend (debatable if main motion is)

000059



Privileged 
motions

Motions unrelated to pending question that 
concern urgency

Types:

• Adjourn

• Recess (during pending business)

• Point of privilege (rights of member or assembly)

• Regular order of business

Can interrupt; 

Except for Adjourn, no second needed & 
undebatable

000060



Incidental 
motions

Questions of procedure

Types:

• 1. Point of information (no second)

• 2. Point of order (no second)

• 3. Ask for vote by actual count rather than voice 
(“division”) (no second)

• 4. Withdraw of motion

• 5. Suspend the rules (Robert’s or rules adopted under 
Robert’s; includes taking item out of order; 
2/3s vote required)

• 6. Appeal ruling of Chair

Not debatable except Appeal ruling of Chair

000061



Motions 
that bring 
back a 
question

Motions that bring back 
previously considered questions

Types: 

• 1. Reconsider

• 2. Discharge duty from committee

• 3. Rescind

• 4. Take from table

000062



When you can interrupt

+ no second or debate

• Point of privilege

• Point of order

• Point of information

• Regular order of business

Requires 2nd & permits debate

• Appeal ruling of Chair

What takes precedence

• Adjourn

• Recess

• Point of privilege

• Regular order of business

• Table

• Previous question (“call the 
question”)

• Limit or extend debate

• Postpone until specific time

• Amend

• Postpone indefinitely

• Main motion

000063









CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT 

 

Case No.:      T23-0011   

Case Name:      Rattanamongkhoun v. Fong   

Property Address:     1583 E 38th Street, Oakland, CA 94602   

Parties:               Nikone Rattanamongkhoun (Tenant) 

      Phonethip Hill (Tenant Representative) 

   Bill and Lana Fong (Owners) 

      Donald Fong (Owner) 

       

      

 

TENANT APPEAL: 

Activity       Date 

Tenant Petition filed     January 22, 2023 

Notice of Incomplete Petition mailed   February 28, 2023 

Tenant Documents submitted     March 3, 2023 

Involuntary Dismissal mailed    April 7, 2023 

Corrected Involuntary Dismissal mailed  April 11, 2023  

Tenant Appeal filed     May 1, 2023   

 

000067





















[AFFIX THIS PAGE TO FRONT OF PETITION WHEN SERVING PROPERTY OWNER] 

[AFFIX THIS PAGE TO FRONT OF PETITION WHEN SERVING PROPERTY OWNER] 

NOTICE TO PROPERTY OWNER OF TENANT 
PETITION 

ATTENTION: IMMEDIATE ACTION REQUIRED 

If you are receiving this NOTICE together with a completed TENANT PETITION form, it means 
that a tenant has filed a case against you with the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program (“RAP”) 
(commonly referred to as the “Rent Board”). 

YOU MUST FILE A RESPONSE WITHIN 35 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER THE PETITION 

WAS MAILED TO YOU (30 DAYS IF DELIVERED IN-PERSON). 

TO RESPOND: 

1) Complete a PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE form found on the RAP website.

(https://www.oaklandca.gov/services/respond-to-a-tenant-petition-for-the-rent-adjustment-

program)

2) Serve a copy of your PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE form on the tenant (or the

tenant’s representative listed on the petition) by mail or personal delivery.

3) Complete a PROOF OF SERVICE form (which is attached to the Response form and also

available on the website) and provide a copy to the tenant (or tenant’s representative)

together with your PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE form.

4) Submit your PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE form and completed PROOF OF

SERVICE* form to RAP through RAP’s online portal, via email, or by mail.

*Note: The Response will not be considered complete until a PROOF OF SERVICE is
filed indicating that the tenant has been served with a copy.

DOCUMENT REVIEW: The tenant is required to serve on you all documents the tenant filed in 
this case in addition to the petition. Additionally, all documents are available for review at RAP. 

FOR ASSISTANCE: Contact a RAP Housing Counselor at (510) 238-3721 or by email at 
RAP@oaklandca.gov. Additional information is also available on the RAP website and on the 
PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE form.

CITY OF OAKLAND 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 Oakland, CA 

94612-0243 

(510) 238-3721

CA Relay Service 711

www.oaklandca.gov/RAP
   

 

 

000077







Page 1 of 2 
Information Sheet 

Rev. 1/5/2021 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION 
REGARDING FILING YOUR PETITION

TIME TO FILE YOUR PETITION 

Your Tenant Petition form must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program within the required time limit for 
filing. RAP staff cannot grant an extension of time to file your Petition.  

For Petitions contesting a rent increase, you have 90 days from the date of notice of increase or 
from the first date you received the RAP Notice (whichever is later) to file a Petition. If you did not 
receive a RAP Notice with the rent increase you are contesting but have received one in the past, 
you have 120 days to file a Petition. If you have never received a RAP Notice, you may contest 
all rent increases.  

For Petitions claiming decreased housing services, you have 90 days from either the date you 
first became aware of the decreased service or the date you first received the RAP Notice 
(whichever is later) to file a Petition. If the decreased housing service is ongoing, you may file a 
Petition at any time. See O.M.C. §§ 8.22.090 (A)(2)-(3) for more information. 

CONTACT A HOUSING COUNSELOR TO REVIEW YOUR PETITION BEFORE SUBMITTING 

To make an appointment, email RAP@oaklandca.gov or call (510) 238-3721. Although the Housing Resource 
Center is temporarily closed for drop-in services, assistance is available by email or telephone.  

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED IN SUPPORT OF PETITION 

All attachments submitted together with your Petition must be numbered sequentially. You may submit 
additional evidence in support of your Petition up to seven days before your hearing. You must serve a copy 
of any documents filed with RAP on the other party and submit a PROOF OF SERVICE form.  

SERVICE ON PROPERTY OWNER 

You are required to serve ALL the following documents on the property owner and/or the property owner’s 
representative:  

1. Copy of RAP form entitled “NOTICE TO PROPERTY OWNER OF TENANT PETITION” (included
in petition packet and available on RAP website).

2. Copy of completed Petition form and attachments.
3. Completed PROOF OF SERVICE form (included in petition packet and available on RAP website).

You may serve the property owner and/or the owner’s representative by mail or personal delivery. A copy of the 
completed PROOF OF SERVICE form must be submitted to RAP together with your Petition. Your Petition will 
not be considered complete until a PROOF OF SERVICE form is filed indicating that the owner has been served. 

FILING YOUR PETITION 

Although RAP normally does not accept filings by email or fax, RAP is temporarily accepting Petitions via 
email during the COVID-19 local state of emergency. You may also fill out and submit your Petition online 
through the RAP website or deliver the Petition to the RAP office by mail. If the RAP office is closed on the 
last day to file, the time to file is extended to the next day the office is open. If you send your Petition by 
mail, a postmark date does not count as the date it was received. Remember to file a PROOF OF 
SERVICE form together with your Petition. 

 

 

000080



Page 2 of 2 
Information Sheet 

Rev. 1/22/2021 

Via email: hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov 

Mail to: City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Ste. 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 

File online: https://www.oaklandca.gov/services/file-a-tenant-petition 

In person: TEMPORARILY CLOSED 
City of Oakland 
Dalziel Building, 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza Suite 
5313 Reception area 
Use Rent Adjustment date-stamp to stamp your documents to verify timely 
delivery and place them in RAP self-service drop box. 

AFTER PETITION IS FILED 

The property owner has 30 days after service of the Petition to file a Response (35 days if served by 
mail). The property owner must serve you with a copy of their Response form and any attachments filed 
with the Response. In most cases, RAP will schedule a hearing. You will be mailed a Notice of Hearing 
indicating the hearing date. If you are unable to attend the hearing, contact RAP as soon as possible. The 
hearing will only be postponed for good cause. 

FILE/DOCUMENT REVIEW 

Either party may contact RAP to review the case file and/or to request copies of any documents 
pertaining to the case at any time prior to the scheduled hearing.  

JURISDICTION 

Please note that if your rent is controlled or subsidized by any other governmental agency, your unit is not 
covered by the Rent Adjustment Ordinance and the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program does not have 
jurisdiction over your claim. O.M.C. § 8.22.030 (A)(1). 

FOR MORE INFORMATION 

Additional information on the petition and hearing process is located on the RAP website and in the Residential 
Rent Adjustment Program Ordinance and Regulations (see Oakland Municipal Code 8.22.010 et seq.). For more 
information on rent increases, including the list of the annual allowable CPI rates and calculators for certain 
justifications, see: https://www.oaklandca.gov/resources/learn-more-about-allowable-rent-increases or you can 
refer to the Guide on Oakland Rental Housing Law at https://cao-94612.s3.amazonaws.com/documents/Guide-
to-Oakland-Rental-Housing-Law-1.pdf. You may also contact a RAP Housing Counselor with questions at any 
time by emailing RAP@oaklandca.gov or calling (510) 238-3721. 

000081























 

 

  
 

                    
                     

  
    
    

    
     

 

    
  

                    
                 
      

                  
          

  

                    
                      

                      
                       

          

                     

              

  
   

  

                     
              

            

         
    
  

  

  
  

    

000092









   

                 
                  

                      
                        
                   

      

  

  

  

  

 

   
   

       
   

 

  
   

        
   

           
         

    

                  
                 
          

    

                    
                  

                   
                   

        

  

                 
            

 

                   
               

        

   

                  
               
      

  

000096



                 
      

          
             

        

  
  

    

000097



         
   

 
     

  
    

       

  
 

   
 

  
 

   
                  

  

           

  

           

  

          

  

          

  

          

  

           

  

          

  

          

  

           

  

           

  
          

  

          

  

          

  
         

  
 

   
                 

  

           

  

         

000098



  
           

  
           

  
         

  
           

  
            

  

         

  

           

  
          

  

           

  
         

  
          

  
   

                   

  

           

  
           

  
           

  
         

  

            

  

           

  

           

  
           

  
          

  

           

    

  

000099









        

  

     

 

000103









        

  

     

   

000107









        

  

     

 

000111









        

  

     

   

000115







































CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT 

Case No.:    L23-0001 

Case Name:    Ruelas v. Tenants 

Property Address:    2900 Birdsall Avenue, Oakland, CA  94619 

Parties: Noemi Ruelas (Owner) 

   Kimberly Roehn (Owner Representative) 

   Michael Goldstein (Tenant) 

   Joel Bernhardt (Tenant) 

   Noah Lopes (Tenant) 

   Gary Sato (Tenant) 

   Bobby & Dee Ward (Tenant)  

OWNER APPEAL: 

Activity Date 

Property Owner Petition filed February 2, 2023 

Tenant Response filed (Ward) February 11, 2023 

Tenant Response filed (Sato) February 17, 2023 

Tenant Response filed (Goldstein) February 17, 2023 

Tenant Response filed (Bernhardt) February 21, 2023 

Tenant Documents submitted (Goldstein) March 6, 2023 

000134



Hearing Dates      March 13, April 3 & 17, 2023  

Hearing Decision mailed     May 17, 2023 

Owner Appeal filed     May 26, 2023   

 

000135





    

   

                   
                 
 

  

                

                    
    

                       

               

                  
              

            

              
   

   

                     
               

                    
     

  

         

      
    

       
        

       
     

       
     

      
       

      
     

     

         

       
         

       
        

     
     

 

    
       

  

 
      
        

 

       
      

         

      
         

      
       
        

       
       

        
    

        
   

       
    

         

      
       

       

000137



    

          

         
         

        
      

       
        

    
      

    

         
        

      
     

     
      

      
    

         

     
       
       

       
       

      
     

 

           

      
       

      
      

    
    

      

            
      

         

       

       
     

      
  

    
       

  

         

       
          

      
        

        
       

       
    

         

      
       

        
      

      
      

       
         

        
          

       
 

          
        

          
  

         

      
         

     

        
        

 

      
      

     
       

        
           

     

000138



    

  
      

                 
                

                
       

             

            
   

      

      
   

  

    

      

       

   

    

   

   

 

 

       
  

 

 

 

   
   

  

  

  

    

   
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   
  

  

  

  

000139



    

   
   

       
  

    

      

     

   
   

       
  

     

   
   

       
  

     

     

   

    

       
  

   
   

  

    

 

   
  

  

  

  

  

 

   
  

  

  

 

   
  

  

  

  

 

   
  

 

000140



    

  
    

                  
               

                
         

     
 

 
  

  
   

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
    

   
   
  
   
  

  
   

   
  
  
  

  

       
  

 
  

    

    
  

  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

000141



    

  
  

                   
              

                   
                   

 

 
  

  
  

  
      

 
       

   

  
 

  
  

  
  

  
   

   
  
   
  
   
   

   
  

   
  

  
  

  

       
  

     
   

    

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

    

000142



    

  
 

                   
                   
         

   

       
  

 
 

 

  
 

    

   
    

       
    

000143



    

  
    

                         
                 

   
   

    

       
  

     
 

    

   
 

000144





    

  
 

                    
                     

  
  

  

    

    

      

                  
                   

                 
                 
              

    
  

                      
                  

    

                  
          

  

                    
                      

                      
                       

          

                     

              

    

  

                     
              

         
      

       
  

   

   

   

  

    

000146



    

  

       
  

    

000147















DocuSign Envelope ID: 0E908FCA-5F93-44DF-90BD-9BDFBDFEB14B 

Name Joel Bernhardt 

Address 2902 Birdsall Ave. 

City, State, Zip Oakland, CA 94619 

Name Noah Lopes 

Address 2906 Birdsall Ave. 

City, State, Zip Oakland, CA 94619 

Name Gary Seto 

Address 2908 Birdsall Ave. 

City, State, Zip Oakland, CA 94619 

Name Bobby and Dee Ward 

Address 2910 Birdsall Ave. 

City, State, Zip Oakland, CA 94619 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

NOTE: If you need more space to list tenants you may attach additional copies of this page. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct. 

Kimberly Roehn 

PRINTED NAME 
l,DocuSigned by: 

�:t�:::t�� 
SIGNATURE 

Proof of Service 

Rev. 5/21/2021 

1/13/2023 

DATE SIGNED 

Page 2 of 2 

000154



IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

REGARDING FILING YOUR PETITION 

TIME TO FILE YOUR PETITION 

Your Property Owner Petition form must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program within the required time 
limit for filing in the Rent Adjustment Ordinance. RAP staff cannot grant an extension of time to file your petition. 

CONTACT A HOUSING COUNSELOR TO REVIEW YOUR PETITION BEFORE SUBMITTING 

To make an appointment, email RAP@oaklandca.gov or call (510) 238-3721. Although the Housing Resource Center 
is temporarily closed for drop-in services, assistance is available by email or telephone. 

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED IN SUPPORT OF PETITION 

All attachments submitted together with your Petition (including proof of current business license, proof of payment of 
most recent RAP fee, and documentation in support of the requested rent increase) must be numbered sequentially. 
You may submit additional evidence in support of your Petition up to seven days before your hearing.1 You must serve
a copy of any documents filed with RAP on the other party and file a PROOF OF SERVICE form. 

REMINDER: Once a petition and its attachments are submitted to the RAP they become public records. Please 
redact any private information (such as social security numbers, bank account numbers, credit card numbers and 
similar financial data) from the documents you submit as part of this petition. If you have any questions, you may 
contact RAP staff by phone at (510) 238-3721 or by email at RAP@oaklandca.gov. 

Additionally, all documents submitted to the RAP, including but not limited to emails, petitions, attachments, 
potential evidence, text messages, screenshots, etc., are a part of the file in your case and all parties to a case 
are entitled to have access to this information. 

SERVICE ON TENANT{S) 

You are required to serve ALL the following documents on the tenant(s) affected by your Petition: 

1. Copy of RAP form entitled "NOTICE TO TENANTS OF PROPERTY OWNER PETITION" (included in
Petition packet and available on RAP website).

2. Copy of completed Petition form and attachments (exception for attachments in excess of 25 pages if
owner selects this option).

3. Completed PROOF OF SERVICE form (included in Petition packet and available on RAP website).

You may serve tenant(s) by mail or personal delivery. A copy of the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form must be 
submitted to RAP together with your Petition. Your Petition will not be considered complete until a PROOF OF 
SERVICE form is filed indicating that all tenants have been served. 

DOCUMENTATION IN EXCESS OF 25 PAGES 

If the documents submitted with your Petition exceed 25 pages, you may opt to not serve tenant(s) with all the 
attachments. To do so, check the box under "DOCUMENTATION IN EXCESS OF 25 PAGES" on page 9 of the 
Petition. If a tenant requests copies of the documentation in their Tenant Response, you must provide the copies 
to the tenant within 10 days of receiving such request. 

FILING YOUR PETITION 

Although RAP normally does not accept filings by email or fax, RAP is temporarily accepting Petitions via email 
during the COVID-19 local state of emergency. You may also fill out and submit your Petition online through the 

1 Note that certain documents are required to be submitted with the Petition. See Petition form for details. 

Page 1 of 3 
Information Sheet 
Rev. 5/21/2021 

000155



RAP website or deliver the Petition to the RAP office by mail. If the RAP office is closed on the last day to file, 
the time to file is extended to the next day the office is open. If you send your Petition by mail, a postmark date 
does not count as the date it was received. Remember to file a PROOF OF SERVICE form together with your 
Petition. 

Via email: 

Mail to: 

File online: 

In person: 

hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov 

City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Ste. 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 

https://www.oaklandca.gov/services/file-a-property-owner-petition 

TEMPORARILY CLOSED 
City of Oakland 
Dalziel Building, 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza Suite 5313 
Reception area 
Use Rent Adjustment date-stamp to stamp your documents to verify timely 
delivery and place them in RAP self-service drop box. 

AGREEMENT TO ELECTRONIC SERVICE 

If you have agreed to electronic service from the RAP by signing the Consent to Electronic Service on page 9 
of the Petition, you have agreed to receive electronic service from the Rent Adjustment Program only, and not 
from the other parties to the case. 

AFTER PETITION IS FILED 

Tenant(s) have 30 days after service of the Petition to file a Response (35 days if served by mail). The 
tenant(s) must serve you with a copy of their Response form and any attachments filed with the Response. In 
most cases, RAP will schedule a hearing. You will be mailed a Notice of Hearing indicating the hearing date. If 
you are unable to attend the hearing, contact RAP as soon as possible. The hearing may only be postponed 
for good cause. 

FILE/DOCUMENT REVIEW 

Either party may contact RAP to review the case file and/or to request copies of any documents pertaining to 
the case at any time prior to the scheduled hearing. 

FOR MORE INFORMATION 

Additional information on the petition and hearing process is located on the RAP website and in the Residential Rent 
Adjustment Program Ordinance and Regulations (see Oakland Municipal Code 8.22.010 et seq.). For moreinformation 
on rent increases, including the list of the annual allowable CPI rates and calculators for certain justifications, see: 
https://www.oaklandca.gov/resources/learn-more-about-allowable-rent-increases or you can refer to the Guide on 
Oakland Rental Housing Law at https://cao-94612.s3.amazonaws.com/documents/Guide-to-Oakland-Rental-Housing
Law-1.pdf. You may also contact a RAP Housing Counselor with questions at any time by emailing 
RAP@oaklandca.gov or calling (510) 238-3721. 

Information Sheet 

Rev. 5/21/2021 

Page 2 of 3 

000156



Owner Petition: Supporting Documents 

2910 Birdsall Ave. 
000157







Building-Wide Improvements 

2910 Birdsall Ave.  000160

















    

  

   

      
  

  
  

  

 
 

     
      

 

 

   
  

   

  

  

  
     

                            
                               
                                

                      
                 

     
                

                                
     

            
        

           

         

    
          

     
   

       

     
    

   

   
                                                

 
                                                                                                                                          

                                       
                       

                          
   
                                                 

           000168











 

 

 

 
  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

               
            

     
          

   

 
  

 
  

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
  

     
   

  

  

 

  

   

  

              
                  

            
                    

                
                 

               
               

         
     

 

 

 

  

    

   

   

  

 

      

     

  

      

     
  

        
     

 

  

   

 

 

       
       

  
      

 

        
  

 

 

 

  

     

000173



   
   

   
           

             
 

       

   

   

 

   

   
  

  

    

    

 

 

  
   

    
  
      

   
 

  
  
  

   
      

     
     

     
  

   

   
   

          
            

               
          
   

  
  

      
000174



 
 

     

      
 

       

                          

                    
         

  

   
 

 
 

         
 

 

 
   

 

           

   

 
  

  
  

  
   

 
  

 
 

 
 

   
      

                    
   

           

   

000175



  
    

   
  

      

      
   

   

  

   
     
    

                         

                        
                       

                         
                      
                   

                   
              

000176



IR Painting

Noemi Ruelas

Job site: 2900 - 2910 Birdsall Ave, Oakland
 

DATE DESCRIPTION
LABOR &

 MATERIALS
 PAID

Exterior paint                             5,500.00 

Wood Doors                             2,600.00 

Metal Dooors                             1,500.00 

Unit 2904 Screen Door                                 200.00 

Unit 2908 Screen Door                                200.00 

11/24/2021 Paint check 1210 Initial Payment          (3,000.00)

12/14/2021 Payment Check 1212          (7,000.00)

                          10,000.00        (10,000.00)

-$                
          

-$                

Make all checks payable to IR Painting.

THANK YOU FOR YOUR BUSINESS!

INVOICE

Los Altos, CA 94022

Paint & Handiwork
650-387-4430

161 S. San Antonio Rd.

December 14, 2021

000177







IR Painting 

Noemi Ruelas

Job site: 2900 - 2910 Birdsall Ave, Oakland
 

DATE DESCRIPTION LABOR & MATERIALS  PAID

Unit 2906 Wood Door Replacement                                276.85 

Termite Repair                                600.00 

Back Wood Stair bring to code                                800.00 

Back Wood Stairs Paint                             1,950.00 

1/17/2022 Check 1229          (3,626.85)

                            3,626.85          (3,626.85)

-$               
-$               

Make all checks payable to IR Painting .

THANK YOU FOR YOUR BUSINESS!

INVOICE
January 17, 2022

Paint & Handiwork
650-387-4430

000180





IR Painting 

Noemi Ruelas

Job site: 2900 - 2910 Birdsall Ave, Oakland
 

DATE DESCRIPTION LABOR & MATERIALS  PAID

Hand railings exterior white                                  1,200 

Floor by stairways gray                                     800 

Laundry area interior white                                     400 

6 Garages interior w wood doors white                                  1,900 

3/9/2022 Payment Check No. 1127          (4,300.00)

 

                            4,300.00          (4,300.00)

-$               
-$               

THANK YOU FOR YOUR BUSINESS!

Make all checks payable to IR Painting .

INVOICE
March 9, 2022

Paint & Handiwork
650-387-4430

 

000182

















2

Total  $336.76 USD
 

 
 

Customer information 

Shipping address 
Noemi Ruelas 

Antone's Appliance 

6114 La Salle Avenue 

243 

Oakland CA 94611 

United States 

Billing address 
Noemi Ruelas 

Coldwell Banker 

 

Los Altos CA 94022 

United States 

Shipping method 
UPS® Ground 

Payment method 

$336.76  

 
 

If you have any questions, reply to this email or contact us at sales@shinepay.co 

  

000190





























    
    

  
 

  
   

  
   

  

   
       

       
      

       
  

    
   

  
 

    

      
 

       
   

      
        

    
          

   

                

  

 
 

 
 

 
  
 
 

  
 

 

   
 
 
 

  
 
 

000204

















  
 
 

 
 

  
  

  

 

 

 
  

 

 
 
 

  

  

  
  

    
   

 

  

 
 

  
 

  

000212



   
     

   
           

  
    

   

  
  

   
  

    

     
     

   
  

   

       
  

             
          

  
           

      

              
           

        
             

   
   

    
  
  

   
    

          

          
          
          
           

        
         
            
                 

    

  

        
   

           

    
  

   
 

  
   

   
 
     

       
                            

 
    

     

  

      
 

   

 

  

 

   

 

   
 

000213



 

Unit-Specific Improvements: 

2902 Birdsall Ave.  000214



Page 1 of 1

 
    

    
     

   
  

   

   
  

 
  
 

  

   
  
  

 

 
 
 

  
 

  

    

    

      

      
       

     
      

 

     
         

      
       

 

        
     

       
     

     
 

    

         
      

   

 

     
   

       
       

       
    000215





             

   

                     

                    

             

 
000217









Unit-Specific Improvements: 

2906 Birdsall Ave.  

000221



 
     

   

   

  

  

  

   

   

  

 

        
 

  

    

   

   

    

  

  

  

  

  

   

    

  

     

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

000222







Unit-Specific Improvements: 

2908 Birdsall Ave. 

See pages 21-23 069000225



Unit-Specific Improvements: 

2910 Birdsall Ave. 000226











































  

              

                    

                 
    

                

                   

           
         

  

      

          
         

            
    
    

     
               

                 
 

                    
                 

                 
                

                 
                   

                 
                     
  

  

          

                       
                  

                         
                

 

                    

                     

                        

                      

                       
           

    

          
  

 

000247



  
 

                     

 

  

  

  
  

  

 

 
 

    
    

 

  

              
             

               
                

             

            
         
               

         

                 
             
               

  

               
             

              

          

             
     

      

 
 

 

             

                
      

                  
   

        

          
          

           
      

          

      

                  

    

          
  

000248









    

    

000252



 
  

 
     

000253



     

000254



 
   

        

000255







  
 

                      

 

  

  
 

  
  

 

 

 
 

    
     

 

  

             

          
                  
                 

           

             

   

        

                 

   

              
             

               

   

             
    

   

 
 

 

            

                 
      

                 
      

   

          
      

           
      

          

      

                  

 

          
  

000258





  

          
  

    

000260











  

          
  

    
000265







  
 

                     

   

                
             

               
                

             

            

    

           
                  

    

                 
               

              

    

               
     

    

               

                  
      

                    

  

    

             
           

           
      

          

    

                      
    

 

    

          
  

000268



  
 

                    

           

      

    

         

                    
                        

                 
                 

                  
   

    
  

                      
                  

    

                  
          

  

                    
                      

                      
                       

          

                     

              

   

  

                     
              

         
      

          
  

   
   

   

  

    

000269







Page  of 1 17

Michael Goldstein’s Tenant Response to Owner Petition, Case #L23-0001: 
Additional Document, Declaration


I submit that none of the five pieces of work claimed as building-wide capital 
improvements eligible for partial pass-through to the residents are such 
improvements. The sewer work may have benefited petitioner but not us and 
may have been a correction of a code violation or deferred maintenance; an 
unnecessary and inferior paint job and unneeded landscaping changes are only 
detriments to our living environment; petitioner is already having us reimburse 
her for the laundry-appliance upgrades by doubling the prices of using them; 
and replacing a water heater that failed was not an “improvement.” 


This document contains statements of fact, photographic evidence, and 
argument. The factual statements are attested to by a declaration under 
penalty of perjury at the end of the document, and the photographs are 
authenticated there.


1. Sewer Laterals


I am in frequent communication with my neighbors on this property, and when 
our new landlady initiated work here, our speculations as to her reasons for 
doing so typically generated conversations. I heard only puzzlement regarding 
the sewer lines; none of us expressed having had a plumbing problem. There 
was no noticeable change in how the drains in the fixtures in my apartment 
functioned after the laterals were replaced.


I have been told that the work on these was required to bring the existing 
sewer laterals up to code when she bought the property in 2020. However, 
petitioner has the burden of proving that the work “adapt[ed] . . . [the property] 
to new building codes (O.M.C. § 8.22.020, def. of capital improvement;* 
Regulations, Appendix A, § 10.2), which I think was not the case. 


As to another requirement for a capital improvement, i.e., “primarily 
benefit[ting] the tenant rather than the owner” (ibid.), evidently the landlady 
needed to undertake the work to consummate her new investment in the 
property, a fact she apparently knew when she decided to buy the building we 
live in. The residents have obtained no benefit that I can perceive.


I ask the Board to also consider:

• whether this was a matter of deferred maintenance (O.M.C. § 22.020), as well 

as 


*Wherever this section of the municipal code is cited below, the reference is 
also to the definition of capital improvements.


000272





Page  of 3 17

The lack of any evident need for repainting generated considerable curiosity 
and speculation among those of us living here. My theory was that petitioner 
was hoping to “flip” the building and thought her new color scheme made it 
more attractive. Others had other guesses. In any event, this is simply a matter 
of taste and did not primarily benefit us rather than the owner.


Several aspects of the change are a detriment to us by making the home in 
which we live (and entertain visitors) look somewhat run down. The painter 
gave everything one spray-painted coat, in a color contrasting with that of the 
previous layer. The paint quickly started blistering and peeling, so that steps 
and parts of the walkways now look like this:

 

         
       

  

000274



Page  of 4 17

Another view, showing more of the same set of steps:

000275



Page  of 5 17

Another exterior set of steps:

Admittedly the steps and walkways would have benefited, as a matter of 
maintenance, from an appropriate paint job. While not rapidly flaking off as the 
new coat is, some of the previous one had worn away over the years and there 
was a small difference in color between it and paint underneath it. But that 
cosmetic problem was not nearly as pronounced as the one created by the 
alleged “improvement.”

000276



Page  of 6 17

Though less dramatic, the same thing is happening with handrails along the 
steps and elevated walkways:

000277





Page  of 8 17

In sum, we are now getting less value for our rent money, not more, because of 
the painting, and the situation will continue to deteriorate. We should not have 
to pay for that. An exception is the interior garage space on the south side of 
the building, which needed painting and now looks better. But I submit that this 
is “normal routine maintenance[, which is] . . . not a capital improvement cost. . 
. .” (Regs., App. A, § 10.2.2, ¶ 4.3) and benefits the landlady and the residents 
equally.


Contrary to O.M.C. § 8.22.020, the regulations (App. A, § 10.2.2,  ¶ 1) seem to 
make “the complete painting of the exterior of a building” automatically eligible 
capital improvement costs, regardless of the Code’s requirements. Such an 
interpretation would seem to be legislatively unauthorized; unfair where—as 
may well have been the case here before rising interest rates changed market 
conditions—the painting was done solely in an attempt to make the property 
more marketable, not to serve tenants; and a denial of due process of law. 

3. Double Reimbursement for Washing Machine


Petitioner’s predecessor provide common-use coin laundry facilities, at a 
below-laundromat rate. The availability of this amenity was part of what I 
bargained for when I decided to move here over five years ago and have been 
paying rent for since, and it is petitioner’s obligation under ¶ 1.C of my lease. 


Some time after petitioner bought the property, the agitator in the washing 
machine was badly damaged, so I submit that her cost was partly repair and 
maintenance. However, petitioner replaced the washing machine with one 
having a larger capacity, so I concede that it was largely an upgrade as well. A 
few months later she added modules to both the washer and the dryer that 
allowed us to pay via an application on our phones. This saved us from having 
to go to our banks for rolls of quarters, and saved her from emptying the coin 
boxes as frequently—a benefit to both landlady and tenant.


However, she is already being recompensed for her costs. She raised the price 
of a washer load when replacing the device, and later of both machines when 
adding the payment modules. The original cost for putting a load through 
washer and dryer was $2.25. It is now double that, $4.50. Petitioner is seeking 
$3.21 + $.51= $3.72 in monthly rent increases for the two upgrades. Unlike 
others here, I live alone and do only about one load per week, or 4.4 loads per 
month. Thus even I am paying $11 per month more already. Petitioner will not, 
of course, reduce this at the end of an amortization period.


Petitioner is not entitled to pass through “costs for which a landlord is 
reimbursed.” (O.M.C. § 8.22.020.) I trust that this attempt to double-dip was 
unintentional, but it should nevertheless be denied.

000279



Page  of 9 17

4. Downgraded Landscaping


Like the painting, petitioner changed the landscaping for her own reasons, and 
to the detriment of myself and the other residents:


Lower maintenance and water use are legitimate interests. However, I work 
from home and see what is going on in the courtyard. For years I never saw 
anyone water the thriving, attractive hedge-like shrubs which petitioner 
removed. (After ending the services of the gardeners who trimmed them—she 
did briefly employ a person who watered them once or twice a month.)


Below are before and after photos included previously, cropped and sized to 
show the landscape changes better. Clearly petitioner saved herself the 
maintenance costs of occasionally having the shrubs trimmed. This benefitted 
her, not those of us who signed leases and moved to a place with a courtyard 
more attractive than it is now.


Moreover, by terminating the previous gardening service, petitioner has 
allowed grasses and weeds to grow wildly in the areas between the plants that 
belong in the courtyard. These areas, covered with what appear to be red 
volcanic cinders, were previously kept clear and attractive. (The third photo 
below shows a not-yet-overgrown area, which is what the entire courtyard 
looked like before petitioner cut her gardening costs. The remainder show 
different areas as they are now.) This failure to continue maintenance included

     

           

         

    

   

              
 

                 
                

          

         

            

 

 

000280





   

The spikey plants right of center and upper right in the photo above are not 
weeds; they are part of the work for which the petition seeks reimbursement.

000282



Page  of 12 17

000283



Page  of 13 17

000284



Page  of 14 17

000285



Page  of 15 17

000286



Page  of 16 17

000287











                     
               

                 
                

                  
      

               
       

  

                 
              
   

                 

 

  
                
                 

                   
                

                  
     

  
                
                
                

                  
    

  
                 
                
              

             

000292



  
                  

                
                

                 
  

 
                
                  

           

       

                
              

   

               
                 

                   
               

               
                 

                  
              

               
       

              
               

                 
               

            

               
     
     
                     

                     
                     

    
       
        

000293



                
                

                
               

              
              

             
              
 

                 
             

      

                    
                  

                  
              

               
                

                 
                 

  

                 
                 

               
                    

               
            

 

      

                
                

              

                  
           

     

000294





   
   

                      
             
               

  

                 
               

         

  
  

 
  

     
    

  
  

      
    

 
    

     
   

  
     

   

  
     

   

  
     

   

  
     

   

000296









OWNER APPEAL  
(L23-0001, Ruelas v. Tenants) 

 
SERVICE LIST 

 
Michael Goldstein 
2900 Birdsall Ave.  
Oakland CA 94619 
 
Joel Bernhardt 
2902 Birdsall Ave.  
Oakland CA 94619 
 
Gary Seto 
2908 Birdsall Ave.  
Oakland CA 94619 
 
Bobby & Dee Ward 
2910 Birdsall Ave.  
Oakland CA 94619 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 7EC8FFD0-1C6A-4A92-807E-469FB7B9219A

000300



CITY OF OAKLAND RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM - APPEAL   
Case: L23-0001 (Ruelas v. Tenants)  
--- 
 

 
OWNER APPEAL (CASE NO. L23-0001) 

 - Page 1 of 7 -  

ATTACHMENT - OWNER APPEAL 
 
Owner/Appellant Noemi Ruelas (hereinafter “the owner”) files the following Appeal of the 
Hearing Decision in case L23-0001 dated May 16, 2023, wherein the Petition for increase based 
on capital improvements was denied on the grounds that some units did not receive the RAP Notice 
in three languages at the inception of tenancy.  
 
For the reasons discussed below, the owner respectfully submits that the decision is incorrect and 
requests the decision be reversed in full and remanded for a decision on the merits. 
 

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND RELEVANT FACTS 
 

The owner purchased the apartment building at 2900-2910 Birdsall Avenue on May 6, 2020. The 
tenants who currently reside in the building moved in on the following dates:  
 

2900:  2/15/2018 
2902:  6/1/1999 
2904:  Not affected by the petition based on move-in date 
2906:  Not affected by the petition based on move-in date 
2908:  1/1/2003 or 1975, per tenant response (not present at hearing) 
2910:  11/5/2005 

 
Upon acquiring the property in 2020, the owner provided all tenants the Notice to Tenants of the 
Rent Adjustment Program (“RAP Notice”) in English on several occasions beginning in 2021.  
 
On January 13, 2023, the owner filed a petition for rent increase based on capital improvement 
projects that were completed in 2021-2022. The projects included in the petition include, but are 
not limited to, replacing the sewer lateral, painting the entire exterior, installing new landscaping, 
replacing common area appliances, and replacing water heaters. Various unit-specific 
improvements were also included. 
 
All affected tenants all filed responses to the petition in English.  
 
The hearing proceeded before RAP Hearing Officer Susan Ma over three days (3/13/2023, 
4/3/2023, and 4/17/2023) and 10.3 hours. The hearing was attended by the owner, owner’s 
representative, and all affected tenants except Unit 2908. No translators were requested or used; 
each tenant testified English is their primary language.  
 
The first day of the hearing (1.1 hours) consisted exclusively of Hearing Officer Ma inquiring 
about background facts, including service of past RAP Notices; the overwhelming majority of the 
remaining time consisted of discussing the capital improvement projects in painstaking detail.  
 
All tenants present at the hearing confirmed they had received and understood the RAP Notice in 
English from the prior owner on multiple occasions over a period of years going back to at least 
1999, and several tenants confirmed via testimony that they recalled receiving the RAP Notice 
from the prior owner at the commencement of their tenancies or soon thereafter (units 2900, 2902, 

000301



CITY OF OAKLAND RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM - APPEAL   
Case: L23-0001 (Ruelas v. Tenants)  
--- 
 

 
OWNER APPEAL (CASE NO. L23-0001) 

 - Page 2 of 7 -  

2910). The owner testified that to her knowledge, the prior owner was in compliance with RAP 
requirements.1 
 
It was uncontested that each tenant also received the RAP Notice in English from the current owner 
on several occasions beginning in 2021. Indeed, all tenants at the hearing confirmed English is 
their primary language.  
 
The tenant not present (unit 2908) left blank all responses on the response form regarding his 
receipt of the RAP Notice.  
 
Hearing Officer Ma issued a Hearing Decision dated May 16, 2023 denying the owner’s petition 
in full. Her decision relied exclusively on the grounds that service of the RAP Notice in three 
languages at the inception of tenancy per O.M.C. 8.22.060 was defective as to some units (2900 
and 2908). 
 
The owner appeals on the grounds that the decision 1) on its face, incorrectly dismisses the entire 
petition based on the Hearing Officer’s assessment that RAP Notice “defects” existed as to only 
two of four affected units; 2) incorrectly dismisses the petition as to unit 2908 against the weight 
of evidence and a based on a misinterpretation of law; and 3) ignores long-standing California law 
on substantial compliance related to notice requirements, which applies to units 2900 and 2908.  
 

II. STANDARD OF APPEAL 
 

The owner appeals the Administrative Decision on the following grounds: 
 

1. The decision violates federal, state, or local law; 
2. The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, the Regulations, or prior 
decisions of the Board; 
3. The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other Hearing Officers;  
4. The decision is not supported by substantial evidence. 
5. The decision raises a new policy issue that has not been decided by the Board.  

 
Because the basis of appeal is legal error (i.e. that the Hearing Officer misinterpreted and/or 
misapplied a law or precedent), the applicable standard of review is de novo. (People v. Cromer 
(2001) 24 Cal.4th 889; Pineda v. Williams-Sonoma Stores, Inc. (2011) 51 Cal.4th 524.) The 
Appeal Board therefore does not defer to the Hearing Officer’s judgment, and instead reviews the 
issues independently.  
 

IV. DISCUSSION 
 
At the outset, it must be acknowledged that all affected tenants took full advantage of the rights 
described in the RAP Notice, as evidenced by their participation in the petition and lengthy hearing 
process which proceeded over 10+ hours. There is no conceivable or alleged prejudice tied to 
the basis for dismissal cited by the Hearing Officer. Therefore, the attempt to dismiss this 
petition on a technicality appears unreasonable and punitive even before considering legal error. 
 

 
1 Representations regarding testimony from the hearing are based on best recollections and notes. 

000302



CITY OF OAKLAND RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM - APPEAL   
Case: L23-0001 (Ruelas v. Tenants)  
--- 
 

 
OWNER APPEAL (CASE NO. L23-0001) 

 - Page 3 of 7 -  

The hearing decision is flawed on multiple grounds, each of which is discussed below.  
 

a. The dismissal as to units 2902 and 2910 is improper under basic procedural law.  
 
The hearing decision in this case was based on Oakland Municipal Code (“Code” or “OMC”) 
and Rent Adjustment Program Regulations concerning the requirement that an owner provide the 
RAP Notice in three languages (English, Spanish, and Chinese) at the inception of tenancy 
(OMC § 8.22.060(A).) That law went into effect on September 21, 2016 and does not apply to 
tenancies that commenced before that date. (RAP Regulations § 8.22.060 (A)(1).) 
 
In this case, the Hearing Officer acknowledges that the tenancies of units 2902 and 2910 
commenced in 1999 and 2005, respectively, prior to OMC 8.22.060’s requirement going into 
place, and it does not apply to them. No other defects with the petition or procedure are cited as 
to these units. Nevertheless, the Hearing Officer dismissed the petition in its entirety. This is 
reversible error. 
 
Under basic California procedural law and precedent, as well as Oakland precedent, each party is 
treated as a unique entity and must assert his or her own case and defense as to the claims against 
him or her. If and when there is a defect affecting a party, the remedy is to make a finding and 
order as to that party. To throw out an entire cause of action against multiple parties whenever 
any single defect exists as to any single tenant is legally improper and would result in absurd 
results. 
 
At a minimum, the dismissal must be reversed and remanded so that a decision on the merits 
may be reached as to units 2902 and 2910. 
 

b. The dismissal as to unit 2908 is improper as it incorrectly applies the OMC 
and Regulations relating to notice requirements and remedies, and it is 
unsupported by substantial evidence.  
 

As stated above, OMC 8.22.060’s requirement that the RAP Notice be served in three languages 
at the inception of tenancies began on September 21, 2016. It was not retroactive. Therefore, the 
rule does not apply to the tenant in 2908, who states his tenancy began in 1975.2  
 
However, the Hearing Officer states:  
  

“The requirement to provide the initial RAP Notice in three languages (English, 
Spanish, and Chinese) took effect on September 21, 2016, and only applies to new 
tenancies that commenced on or after that date, 5 or to tenancies that commenced 
before September 21, 2016, where the tenants were never served the RAP Notice. 
There was a one-year grace period, until September 21, 2017, for owners to comply 
with the new notice regulation.6 . . .  
 
The owner testified that the tenant in Unit 2908, who moved into the unit prior to 
the key date of September 21, 2016, 7 received a RAP Notice in English from the 

 
2 To the owner’s knowledge, 2908’s tenancy commenced in 2003; however, the difference is immaterial as both 
precede 2016. 

000303



CITY OF OAKLAND RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM - APPEAL   
Case: L23-0001 (Ruelas v. Tenants)  
--- 
 

 
OWNER APPEAL (CASE NO. L23-0001) 

 - Page 4 of 7 -  

prior owner in 2018. The owner has not met her burden of proving that Unit 2908 
received either a RAP Notice in English before September 21, 2017, or a RAP 
Notice in all three languages after that date.” 
 
5  Rent Adjustment Program Regulations § 8.22.060 (A)(3). 
6  Rent Adjustment Program Regulations§ 8.22.060 (A){l). 
7  Although the Petition provided the tenant's move-in date as 2003, and the Response provided the tenant's move-in date 
as 1975, both dates are prior to September 21, 2016. 

(Hearing Decision pages 3-4, emphasis added.) 
 
First, the finding that this tenant did not receive the RAP Notice before 2018 is not supported by 
substantial evidence. The tenant did not appear at the hearing and offered absolutely no evidence, 
written or verbal, regarding if and when he received the RAP Notice from the previous or current 
owner. However, several other tenants who lived at the property over the same time period 
testified they did receive the RAP Notice from the prior owner at move-in and with rent 
increases going back to at least 1999. The owner also testified as to her understanding that the 
prior owner had complied with the RAP requirements.3 The Hearing Officer made a finding that 
the owner’s testimony was credible. Therefore, the weight of the evidence requires a finding that 
this tenant did, in fact, receive the RAP Notice far before 2016. There is no evidence 
contradicting that fact. 
 
In addition, the Hearing Officer offers no accurate citation, authority, or support for the 
proposition that a tenant whose tenancy commenced before 9/21/16 is mandated to receive a 
RAP notice in three languages ever (including prior to 9/21/2017). The law cited by the 
Hearing Officer states:  
 

“3. Until September 21, 2017, no Owner will be denied a Rent increase for 
failing to provide the notice in the required languages, unless: 
 

a. the Tenant is proficient in one of the non-English languages specified in 
OMC 8.22.060 (Spanish or Chinese), and is not proficient in English; 
 

or 
 

b. the Owner negotiated the terms of the rental agreement in either Spanish 
or Chinese and failed to give the notice in that language.” 

 

(Rent Adjustment Regulations § 8.22.060(A)(3).) 
 

This section imposes absolutely no requirement for an owner to serve an existing tenant with the 
Notice in 3 languages even if they purportedly never received it before 9/21/2016. At minimum, 
this is a misinterpretation of the regulations and the Hearing Officer is imposing requirements 
not contemplated by the Code. 
 
Indeed, there is no obligation under the Code or regulations wherein an owner is obligated to 
provide a tenant with the RAP Notice in 3 languages when their tenancy began before 9/21/2016. 
Any defect in receiving the RAP Notice in English was cured by the current owner, who testified 
that she personally provided the RAP Notice in English in 2021 to all parties, which is more than 

 
3 Representations regarding testimony from the hearing are based on best recollections and notes. 

000304



CITY OF OAKLAND RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM - APPEAL   
Case: L23-0001 (Ruelas v. Tenants)  
--- 
 

 
OWNER APPEAL (CASE NO. L23-0001) 

 - Page 5 of 7 -  

6 months before the filing of this 2023 petition. Therefore, per OMC § 8.22.060(C), any defect 
has been cured. 
 
Finally, even if there were a defect with providing notice under OMC § 8.22.060, the remedy is a 
six (6) month forfeiture of the rent increase sought, not dismissal:  
 

“An owner who fails to give notice of the existence and scope of the Rent 
Adjustment Program at the commencement of a tenancy, but otherwise qualifies 
to petition or respond to a petition filed with the Rent Adjustment Program, will 
forfeit six months of the rent increase sought unless the owner cured the failure to 
give the notice.” (OMC § 8.22.060(C).) 
 

Accordingly, the dismissal as to unit 2908 must be overturned for the multiple reasons discussed 
above, as well as those discussed in section (c) below. 
 

c. The dismissal as to units 2900 (and all units) violates the well-established 
California law and RAP precedent of substantial compliance.  

 
Based on move-in dates, the tenant in unit 2900 is the only party whose tenancy began after 
9/21/2016, and therefore is the only party potentially affected by the 3-language RAP Notice 
requirement.  

There is no dispute that the tenant received the notice in English at the inception of his tenancy 
and understood it. Evidence was presented that he also received the same notice on multiple 
occasions since.  

Therefore, the question becomes, is strict compliance with the 3-language notice requirement 
required with regard to unit 2900? In other words, is it permissible for the RAP to require strict 
compliance with the notice requirement to the detriment of the owner when actual notice was 
given that achieved the underlying purpose of the code? 

The answer is no, because the owner is in substantial compliance with the law, and substantial 
compliance is sufficient under California law.  

North Pacifica LLC v. CA Coastal Commission (2008) 166 Cal. App. 4th 1416 summarizes the 
applicability of the substantial compliance doctrine:  

“ "The paramount consideration is the objective of the statute." (Downtown Palo 
Alto Com. for Fair Assessment v. City Council (1986) 180 Cal.App.3d 384, 395 
[225 Cal.Rptr. 559].) "Unless the intent of a statute can only be served by 
demanding strict compliance with its terms, substantial compliance is the 
governing test." (County of Tulare v. Campbell (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 847, 853 
[57 Cal.Rptr.2d 902].) "`Substantial compliance... means actual compliance in 
respect to the substance essential to every reasonable objective of the statute.' 
(Stasher v. Harger-Haldeman (1962) 58 Cal.2d 23, 29.)" (Id. at 1431-1432, 
emphasis added.) 
 

000305



CITY OF OAKLAND RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM - APPEAL   
Case: L23-0001 (Ruelas v. Tenants)  
--- 
 

 
OWNER APPEAL (CASE NO. L23-0001) 

 - Page 6 of 7 -  

The Supreme Court in Stasher v. Harger-Haldeman (1962) 58 Cal.2d 23 also stated that 
"mere technical imperfections of form or variations . . . should not be given the 
stature of non-compliance . . ." (Id. at 29, emphasis added.)  

 
The Court further stated that holding a party to the letter of the law when they fully complied 
with the substance and spirit would give the other party an undeserved windfall and would 
disregard the true intent of the statute. (Id. at 33.) 
 
The case of Downtown Palo Alto Comm. For Fair Assessment v. City Counsel (1986) 180 Cal. 
App. 3d 384 is directly on point. In that case, group of businesses sought to strike down an 
ordinance after the City Counsil failed to strictly comply with the notice requirements of the 
local code.  

Specifically, the code strictly stated City Counsil must serve to each business a copy of the 
proposed new city Ordinance via both mailing and newspaper publication; the law strictly states 
that this notice “shall be given.” 

However, the Council only mailed the notice to about 730 of 900 of the businesses and did not 
publish the notice in a newspaper. (Id. at 389.) 

With regard to the language of the statute, the Court of Appeal states:  

“Turning first to the language of section 36522, we find that its terms are 
mandatory. The statute provides that each business ‘shall be given’ the specific 
notice, and does not expressly sanction mere substantial compliance with its 
provisions. Nevertheless, substantial compliance with statutory directives will 
suffice if the purpose of the statute is thereby satisfied.” (Id. at 395, emphasis 
added.) 

The Court of Appeal found that, because the city satisfied the intent of the statute – which was to 
ensure that a sufficient number of the businesses in the area learned of the proposed 
improvements and the methods for challenging the proposals – the city's notice was sufficient. 
(Id. at 396.) 

The Court held: "Unless the intent of the statute can only be served by demanding strict 
compliance with its terms, substantial compliance is the governing test." (Id. at 394.)  

In summary, although the statute in question mandated that all business owners shall be given 
notice, substantial compliance with the statute was sufficient because the purpose of the statute 
had been satisfied. (Id. at 395.) 

Here, in this case, the purpose of the statute is to ensure that most tenants receive the RAP Notice 
in a language they can understand so that they are aware of their rights under the local Code and 
Regulations. Of course, not everyone speaks English, Spanish, or Chinese, but perhaps most do.  

And although the Code also contains mandatory language similar to that in Downtown Palo Alto 
Comm. For Fair Assessment v. City Counsel, the Code’s language does not overcome the legal 
sufficiency of substantial compliance.  

000306



CITY OF OAKLAND RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM - APPEAL   
Case: L23-0001 (Ruelas v. Tenants)  
--- 
 

 
OWNER APPEAL (CASE NO. L23-0001) 

 - Page 7 of 7 -  

There is no dispute that: 

o Each tenant actually received the RAP Notice several times in English since at 
least 2018;   

o The tenants’ primary language is English, so there was no impediment to their 
ability to comprehend the notice; and 

o No detriment was inflicted by not providing the RAP Notice in two other 
languages that they would not have understood. In fact, all tenants took advantage 
of the rights and fully participated in the proceedings. 4 

Therefore, the objectives of the code have been met and the owner’s substantial compliance 
must be treated as actual compliance. 

Finally, the RAP has a history of recognizing substantial compliance in other cases for both 
tenants and owners. For example, in T00-0449 (Frierson et. al. vs. Grand Lake Terrace) the 
Appeal Board held:  “Owner who fails to provide City’s RAP notice is in substantial compliance 
because: Owner has previously given tenant RAP Notice, Owner notice provides substantially 
the same information as RAP, including existence of RAP, contact information, justifications of 
rent increases, tenant’s right to contest a rent increase & time frame for filing a petition; Owner’s 
notice has no false or misleading information.” 

Also, in T03-0267 (Tengeri v. Phillip et. al.), the Appeal Board ruled that “Tenant has standing 
to bring a petition-An $18.11 rent underpayment over a 2.8 yr. period was minimal and tenant 
was “current” [on rent] due to substantial compliance.” 

It would be contrary to California law and precedent, and local precedent, to dismiss the petition 
or limit the rent increase sought in any way based on a technicality involving OMC 8.22.060.  

V. CONCLUSION 
 
Based on the foregoing, the owner respectfully requests the dismissal be reversed as to all units 
and that the case be remanded for a decision on the merits of the petition, which has been 
extensively argued and submitted.  
 
Dated: May 26, 2023   Respectfully submitted, 
          
      

__________________________________ 
       

Kimberly Roehn 
      Attorney for Owner/Appellant 
 

 
4 In addition, any issue with notice at the inception of tenancy is cured if notice is provided 6+ months before the 
petition is filed, which it was here. Even if a defect with the notice at the inception of tenancy were found, the 
penalty is a 6-month forfeiture (or delay) of the rent increase sought, not dismissal. (OMC § 8.22.060(C).) 

000307



CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT 

 

Case No.:      T22-0124   

Case Name:      Benafield v. Equity Avg., LLC   

Property Address:     341 Somerset Road, Oakland, CA 94603   

Parties:               Kevin Benafield (Tenant) 

      Lisa Souriya (Tenant Representative) 

      Equity Avg., LLC (Owner) 

      Steve Bach, Bayview Real Estate Svc., Inc. (Manager) 

      Andrew Catterall (Owner Representative)    

  

OWNER APPEAL: 

Activity       Date 

Tenant Petition filed     July 20, 2022  

Property Owner Response filed    August 23, 2022  

Tenant Exhibits submitted    August 27, 2022 

Tenant Exhibits submitted    October 3, 2022 

Hearing Dates      October 11 & 24, 2022   

Hearing Decision mailed     January 12, 2023  

Property Owner Appeal filed    February 1, 2023  

Appeal Hearing Date      April 13, 2023 

000308



Appeal Decision mailed     April 20, 2023 

Remand Decision mailed     May 17, 2023 

Owner Appeal filed     June 2, 2023 

Tenant Response to Owner Appeal submitted June 6, 2023 

000309













































































































































































    

   

   
   

    

   

   
                                                                             

      

        

             

    
      
      
      

             

   

 

000395



























 
 

      

        
  

     

  

  

  

  
   

   
 

  

  

  

  

 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  

 
           

 

    

  

    
 

 

  

  

  

  
 

  

  

  

  
 

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  

 

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  

  

000408



 
 

 

 

 

      

 

 
                  

     

              
    

           

000409



 

000410



   

  

     

  

    

   

                  

       

  

   

  

                    

                     

       

  

000411





   

  

     

  

    

   

                  

       

  

   

   

  

000413





 

000415



000416





000418







 

000421





000423











            
            

              
            

            
           

   

 

          
              

 

             
               

            
             

    

  

             
            

           
               

 

           
            

            
            

            
           

           
            
            

       

          
             
      
        

   

000428



              
     

               
            

              
              

                  
       

          
            

              
              

             
             

             
              

        

              
            

              
             

              
  

               
             

               
             

               
                 

           
      

               
               

           

             
       

             
         

           
           

           

   

000429



            
       

               
               

           
            

            
              

       

             
              

            
             

                 
            

              
              
       

    

         

             
            

                 
               

               
               

         

               
               

                 
                

               
              

                  
              

 

            
           

             

          

   

000430



                
                

               
             

              
 

              
              

                   
                  

              

                 
               

              
            

               
               

               
                

             

               
             

  

                 
              

               
             

           

               
             

                
             

            

   

              
                

               
               

   

000431



               
                 

              
              

               
                

              
              
                  

      

                 
                 

           

             
                 

                 
     

                
            

           
              

               
                 

              
            

  

            
             

             
            
           

            
              

               
    

              
             

        

               
             

    

000432



              
               

               
            

            
               

            
                  

 

               
                
                 

              
               
              

             
       

               
            

           
             

              
               

      

   

             
                
               
               

                 
       

               
                

              
               

                  
                

                
                 

               
   

   

000433



                  
               
            

      

              
             

             
              

   

                 
              

            
            

     

       

               
               

             
              

                
                   

        

              
  

    

              
              

               

       

            

        

                   
                 

               
                
              
              

    

000434



             
             

            
            

              
               

               

       

 

            
         

                
              

       

            
             
           

         
             

           
         

      

             
         

          

            
            

            
             

             
             

             

                
              

             

             
              

    

000435



                 
                

              
            

              
           

               
             
               

                
               
 

              
           

              
                
              

       

    

          
                

               
               

 

            
               

                 
                 

              
              

              

    

          
           

  
              
           
      
      

   

000436



              
               

               
               

         

              
                

              
             

              
               
              

      

      

              
                

             
                 

                   
                

       

               
               

                
               

               
                

 

              
               

              
              

             
              

                 
               

   

      
              
      

    

000437



             
               

             
             

    

      

                
               

            

              
              

          
            
           

              
              

              
             

        

   

            
          

              
              

    

               
           

               
             

        

             
            
                 

           
   

               
              

     
   

000438



              
 

   

           
             

            
          

               
           

               
            
              

          

          
          

             
    

     

             
           

              
             

                
              

             

    

              
            

            

              
                 

              

       

             
               

        

   

000439





   
   

      

                      
             
               

  

                 
               

     

  
  

 
       

  
    

 
   
   

   

 
  

   
   

  
  
   

   

              
             

               
                 

 

                   
            

  
  

    

000441







  

               
                 

                   
                     
 

          
               

   
                

               
                

                  
       

                   
                

         
               
               
                   

          

     000444



EXPLANATION REGARDING RENT BOARD APPEAL T22-0124 

2a) The Decision Is Inconsistent With OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board Regulations or prior 
decisions of the board. 

In the decision, Hearing Officer Brian Brophy cites to Rule 10.10 as the basis for why the 
demand that the tenant pay for the garbage, as required by the lease, is an illegal rent increase.  At 
page 10 of the decision, Hearing Officer Brophy cites to the relevant section: 

(See decision at p. 10) 

However, this section, by its explicit terms, only applies to situations where a utility bill is 
divided up between the units.  Here, each of the four apartments, including Tenant Petitioner’s 
unit, receives its own bill  (see attachment A hereto).  The addresses on each of the four bills in 
Attachment A correspond to each the four apartments in the building.  341, 343, 345 and 347 
Somerset.  The amount billed to Tenant Petitioner in its quarterly bill--$144.57—is the amount 
they are being billed for garbage, and object to in their petition.  

In footnotes 1-2 on page 10 of the decision, Hearing Officer Brophy cites to the following 
further authority to support the decision:   

However, neither of these decisions involve the case here---where each unit is being billed 
individually.  This authority, Rule 10.1.10 and the PUC Code are all contrary to Hearing Officer 
Brophy’s decision.  

1

       

            
             
           

         
             

           
         

      

          
               

000445



 

2e) The Decision Was Not Supported By Substantial Evidence 

  In the decision, Hearing Officer Brophy claims the demand that the Tenant Petitioner 
pay for the garbage, as required by the lease, is an illegal rent increase based on the following: 

 

 

       (See Decision at p. 9)  

 The decision cites to no evidence—and there is not “substantial evidence in the case 
record”-- supporting this claim.  Yet from this factual conclusion, the decision then states that: 

 

 

       (See Decision at p. 10)  

 

Not only is the decision’s conclusion that the garbage bill was divided not factually 
supported, it is incorrect: The addresses on each of the four bills in attachment A correspond to 
each the four apartments in the building.  341, 343, 345 and 347 Somerset.  The amount billed to 
Tenant petitioner in its quarterly bill--$144.57—is the amount they are being billed for garbage. 

2f) Landlord Was Denied the Opportunity to Respond to the Petitioner’s Claim 

 The landlord was denied the opportunity to meaningfully respond to petitioner’s claim, to 
the extent that hearing officer felt the landlord failed to provide evidence that each unit at the 
building was being individually billed for the garbage utilities, or to the extent that the hearing 
officer did not take this evidence into account.  This information was apparently crucial to the 
question of whether the Tenant Petitioner was required to pay these costs, which was not 
apparently identified at the hearing.  The Landlord should have the opportunity to present this 
evidence (in Exhibit A hereto) to the extent it was not presented at the hearing. 

  

2

            
         

                
              

                 
                

              
            

              
           

000446



EXHIBIT A 

3 000447



4

       

          

 
     

    
     
   

   

      
 

 
   

 
 
 

  

 

 
  

       
 

      

 

 

     
        

   

  
            

        

   
       

  

        

         

      

       

      

   
 

   
   

  

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
  

 

       
      

       

       

    

        
       

    
        

        
          

      
       

       

    

    
    

 

000448



5

 
  

     
   

  
         

       
       

  
  

 

 
 

  
  

  
  
  

       
       

   

         
       

         
          

      
         

  

   

 

 
   

   
 
 

      
    

 

                      

                  

                   

                       

      

                 

                                   

 

000449



6

  

    

  
        

      
 

  
  

  
  

  
  
  

    

   

         
       

         
          

      
         
 

  

   
   

    
 
 

   

 

                      
                 

                   
                       
      
                 

                                      

 

      

   
   

  
   

 

 

  
   

 

  
 

 

 

  

           

                           
   
   

     

  

                     
    
   
  

    

 
 

  

000450



7

    
          

   

  

     
    

     
   

   

     

  
       

 

     
        

   

  
            

        

   
       

 

  
          

      

   
 
 

  

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

     

  
   

        

        

          

        

      
       

       
    

       
     

    
       

          
        

        
       

    
    

  

          

                            
                 

  
              

              
                

 

 
 

  

   

   
 

                                

                       

                                   

                          

                    

                              

    

000451



8

       

      
     

     
   
   

    

    

      
          

        
        

      

    

         
       

         
          

      
         
 

                      
                  

                   

                       
      

                 

              

      

   
   

  
   

 

 

  
   

 

  
 

 

 

  

          

                     
   
  

    

 

  

                      
    

   
  

    

 
  
  

 

  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

000452



9

    

   

       
         

 

     
    

     
   

   

 
       

 

 
     

      

  
    

 

  
        

    

 

                              

  

  
 

  
  

  

 
 

   
   

   

 

 

 

    

 
   

 

  
   

        

        

          

 

 

  

  
  
  
  

 

        
      
        

       
   

        
      

     
         

           
        

          
  

      
    

    
     

  

 
                  

                            
                 

  
              

              
                

 

 
 

  

   

    

                                  
                       

                                     
                              

                    

                             
    

 

000453



10

 

   
   

    
      

   

  
         

       
       

  
  

  

     
  
  

       
     

   

          
       

         
          

      
         
 

  
 

   
 

    

   
   

    
 
 

    
      

 

                      
                  

                       
      
                 

  
 

   
       

 

000454



11

 

  

    

  

        

       

       

  
  

 
  

  
  
  
  

    

   

         

       

         

          

      

         

 

  

  
     

   

  
 

   

  
 
 

   

 

                      

                  

                    

                       

      

                 

   
  

   
    

  

 

    
   

 

000455



12

 

       

      
    

  
          

        
        

      

    

  
  

  
  
  

   

          
       

         
          

      
         
 

    

 
   
  

 
 

 

                      

                      

 

                   

                       

      

                 

                    

      

   
  

  
   

 

 

  
   

 

  
 

 

 

  

         

                
   
  

    

 

 
  

                
    

   
  

    

 
  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

  

 

000456



13

 

 

    

  
         

       
    

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
  

    

   

          
       

         
          

      
         
 

  

   

 
   

   
  

 

   

 

                      
                  

                   
                       
      
                 

                                          

   
      

 
   

  
   

 

 

  
   

 

 
 

 

  

  

     

 
   

  
     

  

                     
    

   
   
   

 
  

  

 
 

 
  
 

 
 
 
 

000457



14

    
         

   

 
     

    
     
   

   

     

  
      

 

     
        

   

  
            

        

   
       

 

 
          

       

 
 
 
 

  

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

     

  
  

   
 

 

 
 

 

   

  
   

 
 

  

        

        

          

       
     
        
       

   

        
     

    
       

        
         

        
       

    
    

  

          
  

                            
                 

                

 
              

              
 

  

  

   
   

                               
                    

                                    
                            

                  

                              
    

000458



15

 
 

   
  

  

     
  

    

  
        

        
       

      

    

    

   

          
       

         
            

      
         
 

 

 

   

 
   
  

 
 

   

 

 
 

 

  
  

 

  

             

       
  

   
   

    

                         
    

      
   

    

 
   

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

000459



16

 

  

   

        
  

  
         

       
       

  
  

 
  

  
  
  
  

   

         
       

         
          

      
         
 

    

  
   

   
 
 

  
  

  

 

                      

                  

                       

      

                 

 
 

   
   

 

 

000460



17

 

        
    

  
         

       
       

  
  

     
  

    

   

         
       

         
          

      
         
 

     

    

 
   

   
 
 

   

 

       

                      

                  

                   

                       

      

                 

000461



18

 
  

 
  

    

    

 
      

       
 

  
  

           

    

   

          
       

         
          

      
         
 

  

   

 
   

   
 
 

   

 

                      

                  

                   

                       

      

                  

 
  

      

 
   

  
  

 

 

  
   

 

  
 

 

 

  

           

            
   
  

    

 

  

                    

    
   
   

    

 
 

 

 
 

  
 
 

 

000462



19

    
         

    
    

     
   

   

     

  
       

 

    
        

   

  
             

        

  
       

 

 

       

 
  

 
 

  

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

     

  
   

        

        

          

 

        
      
       

       
     

        
      

    
       

         
         

        
       

      
  

 
    

  

          

                            

                 

 
              

              
                

 

 
 

  

   

   

                                  

                     

                            

                           

                    

                               

    

000463



20

    

  
          

        
        

      

      

      

   
   

  
   

 

 
  

  
  

  
  

    

   

         
       

         
          

      
         

 

    

  
   

    
  

 

   

 

   

 

   

  
   

 
  

 

 

  

            

           

   
    

     

                 
    

      
   
    

 
  

  

000464



21

 

  

       
   

  
          

       
      

   
  

  

  
  

  
  
  
  

      
    

   

         
       

         
          

      
         
 

   

  
   
  

  
 

 

                      

                  

                       

      

                 

    
 

   
     

 

 
  

 

  

000465



22

 

  

    

  
         

       
      

  
  

  
  

  
  
  

    

  

          
       

         
          

         
        
 

 
 

 
 

   

  
   

   
 
 

   

 

  

                      
                  

                   
                       

      

                 

                 

 
 

   
     

000466



23

 
  

  
       

      
      

  
  

   

         
       

         
           

      
         

 

  

  

  
  

   
  

   
 

   

 

                      

                   

                   

                       

      

                 

                           

 

 

  

      

   
  

  
  

 

 

  
   

 

  
 

 

 

  

          

 
   

 
    

 

  

    
    
   
   

    

   
  

000467



24

    
          

   

  
    

    
     
   

   

     

  

       
 

     
        

   

  
            

       

   
       

 

       

 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

     

   

  
   

        

        

          

        
      

        

       
   

        
    

    
       

          
         

        
      

  

          

                            

                

  
              

                

                

 

 
 

  

   

 
  

                                

                       

                                 

                           

                    

                               

    

000468



25

    

  
          

        
        

      

    

      

  
   

  
   

 

    

   

          
       

         
          

      
         
 

   

  
   

   
  

 

   

 

 

  
   

 

  
 

 

 

  

      

              
  

    
     
     

                    
    

      
  

    

 
  

000469







2 
 

(2) Because the waste management bills were addressed the owner, the hearing 
officer assumed that the bills were divided while in fact waste management was 
individually billed by unit. 

BOARD DECISION 

After parties’ arguments, questions to the parties, and Board discussion, Chair 
Ingram moved to remand the case back to the Hearing Officer on the limited issue of 
the waste management charges and for the Hearing Officer to identify what evidence in 
the record was relied on and supported their finding that the waste management was 
split. Vice Chair Oshinuga seconded the motion. Vice Chair Oshinuga withdrew his 
second and made a friendly amendment to include that evidence in the record includes 
sworn testimony from the hearing. Chair Ingram accepted the amendment. Vice Chair 
Oshinuga seconded the motion. 
 
The Board voted as follows:  
 
Aye:   D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, D. Taylor, D. Williams 
Nay:   None 
Abstain:  None 
 
The motion was adopted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

         
BRIANA LAWRENCE-MCGOWAN        DATE 
BOARD DESIGNEE     
CITY OF OAKLAND 
HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND 
RELOCATION BOARD 

 

April 20, 2023

000472



 PROOF OF SERVICE 

 Case Number T22-0124 

I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 

Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 

California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 

California 94612.   

Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 

Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 

Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, California, addressed to: 

 

Documents Included 

Appeal Decision 

 

Manager 

Steve Bach 

Bayview Real Estate Svc., Inc. 

388-12th Ave. 

San Francisco, CA 94118 

Owner 

Equity Avg., LLC 

16521 Academia Drive 

Encino, CA 91436 

Owner Representative 

Andrew Catterall 

Zachs, Freedman, & Patterson, PC 

601 Montgomery Street, Suite 400 

San Francisco, CA 94111 

Tenant 

Kevin Benafield 

341 Somerset Road 

Oakland, CA 94611 

Tenant Representative 

Lisa Souriya 

341 Somerset Road 

Oakland, CA 94611 

 
I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 

correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 

receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 

Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 

000473



business. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 

and correct. Executed on April 20, 2023 in Oakland, CA. 

 

 
______________________________ 

Briana Lawrence-McGowan 

Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

 

000474





             
    

             
              

           
               

              
     

             
            

              
 

   

            
       

 

      

              
            

        
               
              

              
            

           
             

             
                 

             
           

        
            

              
              

               
            

             
            

   

000476



            
            

               
            

               
                 

               
              

            
     

            
               

                   
            

              
           

               
               

           

             
       

             
         

           
           

           
            

      

              
      

       

 

         
                

        
                  

                  
                 

               
               

  
          

    

000477



             
             
    

            
              

 
              

             
              

              
            

    
            

            
             
            

           
          

             
             

            
           

              
             

            
          

            
           
             

    
               

          
              

           
             

            
            

             
         

 

               

            
            
          

    

000478



                 
          

             
                

   

               
             
             

              
               

                 

     
   

  
   

   

000479



  
   

      

                      
             
               

  

                 
               

     

  
  

 
       

  
    

 
   
   
   

  
       

     
    

 
  

   
   

  
  
   

   

              
             

               
                 

000480









    

 

                   
                   

                     
                    

       

            
          

                
              

      

               
             

                 
                 

              
            

              
           

     

                 
                   

                    
                     
                 

                  
                     

     

       

                  
                  

                    
                    

                    
                  

      

                          
                      

                     

000484



               
                    

                 
               

                 
               

                     
              

            

                    
                  
               

                  
                

                 
                 

                  
                       

                     
        

 

                
                   

       

                   
                   

                   
                     

                   
                  

     

              
               

                 
                    

     

        
   
    

   

000485



  

000486



















































 

  

   

   

   

                

               

           

              

             

              

     

           

              

              

                  

                

               

              

 

 

  

 
  

 

 000511









   

          

  
     
  

    

   

                

            

  

   

   

  

 000515





   

  

     

  

    

   

                 

        

       

  

   

   

  

 000517





1 
 

 

                                                        CITY OF OAKLAND   
                                 Rent Adjustment Program 

    

MEMORANDUM 

Date:     July 11, 2023 

To:     Members of the Housing, Rent Residential & Relocation     
                                  Board (HRRRB)     
 
From:    Kent Qian, Deputy City Attorney 

Re:  Appeal Recommendation in T23-0011, Rattanamongkhoun 
v. Fong  

Appeal Hearing Date:       July 13, 2023 
 

Property Address:   567 Oakland Avenue, Oakland, CA 

     

BACKGROUND 

  Tenants filed a petition on January 22, 2023 contesting two rent increases. The tenant 

checked the US mail box on proof of service and attached a certified mail receipt to the petition. 

On February 28, 2023, RAP sent a notice of incomplete petition that asked the tenant to provide 

proof of service and notice to property owner of the petition. 

RULING ON THE CASE 

 The hearing officer dismissed the petition on the basis that the petition was served by 

certified mail and the ordinance does not authorize service by certified mail.  

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL 

 The owner appealed the decision, arguing that the proof of service was emailed to RAP 

in response to the notice of incomplete decision. 

 

ISSUES 

1. Is hearing officer’s decision to dismiss the petition on the basis that the petition was 

served by certified mail correct? 

 



2 
 

APPLICABLE LAW AND PAST BOARD DECISIONS 

I.  Service of Petition 

 

 In order to file a petition, a tenant must provide “[p]roof of service by first-class mail or in 

person of the tenant petition or response and any supporting documents on the opposing 

party . . .” OMC 8.22.090.A.4.e. 

 

RECOMMENDED OUTCOME 

 The Office of the City Attorney recommends that the Hearing Officer’s decision to 
be upheld. The tenant’s petition indicates that the petition was served by certified mail 
and not first class mail, and the ordinance does not authorize service by certified mail. 

 
 



1 
 

 

                                                        CITY OF OAKLAND   
                                 Rent Adjustment Program 

    

MEMORANDUM 

Date:     July 10, 2023 

To:     Members of the Housing, Rent Residential & Relocation     
                                  Board (HRRRB)     
 
From:    Kent Qian, Deputy City Attorney 

Re:  Appeal Recommendation in L23-0001, Ruelas v. Tenants 
                          
Appeal Hearing Date:       July 13, 2023 
 

Property Address:   2900, 2902, 2906, 2908, and 2910 Birdsall Avenue, 

Oakland, CA 94621 

     

BACKGROUND 

 The owner filed a petition for a capital improvement increase. Three hearings 

were held on March 13, April 3, and April 17, 2023. 

RULING ON THE CASE 

 On May 16, 2023, the Hearing Officer issued a Hearing Decision dismissing the 

case on the basis that the RAP notices served on units 2900 and 2908 were defective 

because the RAP notices were first served on those units after September 20, 2016, 

and the owner failed to show that the RAP notices were served in the three languages 

(English, Spanish, and Chinese) required by the ordinance. 

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL 

 On Apri, 2023, the owner filed an appeal of the Hearing Decision. The owner 

argues that: 

1. The hearing officer should not have dismissed the petition as to all units if 

only two units received defective RAP notices. 

2. With respect to the tenant in unit 2908, the tenant moved in before September 

21, 2016, and the ordinance requiring RAP notices in three languages does 



2 
 

not apply to pre-existing tenancies, even if the first RAP notice was served 

after that date. 

3. With respect to the tenant in unit 2900, the owner substantially complied with 

the ordinance by providing RAP notice in English.  

ISSUES 

1. Did the hearing decision supported by substantial evidence that units 2900 

and 2908 did not receive RAP notices in all three languages? 

2. Was the hearing officer’s decision correct that owner’s failure to prove receipt 

of RAP notice in all three languages 2900 and 2908 renders the entire petition 

fatally defective?  

 

APPLICABLE LAW AND PAST BOARD DECISIONS 

I. Owner Filing Requirements   

 In order to file a response to a tenant petition or file a petition seeking a rent 
increase, an owner must submit the following: evidence of possession of a current 
business license, evidence of payment of the RAP fee, evidence of service of the RAP 
notice on covered units, a completed response form, documentation supporting the 
owner’s claim of exemption or justification for the rent increase, and proof of service of 
the response on the tenant. OMC 8.22.090B.  

II. Service of RAP Notice 

 Owners are required to serve tenants with a copy of the RAP Notice at the 
beginning of the tenancy and together with any rent increase. O.M.C. 8.22.060, 
8.22.070H, In order to file a petition, an owner must present evidence of service of the 
RAP notice on “the tenant in each affected covered unit in the building prior to the 
petition being filed.” OMC 8.22.090B.1.c.1. 

III. RAP Notice in Three Languages 

 Owners must give the initial RAP notice in three languages: English, Spanish, 
and Chinese. OMC 8.22.060.A.2. If an owner fails to submit the evidence of giving RAP 
notice, “then the owner's petition or response to a tenant's petition must be dismissed.” 
OMC 8.22.060.B.  

The requirement to provide notice in three languages only applies to new 
tenancies that commenced on or after that date. Reg 8.22.060.A.1. Until September 21, 
2017, no owner will be denied a rent increase for failing to provide the notice in the 
required languages, unless the tenant is proficient in one of the non-English languages 
and is not proficient in English or if the owner negotiated the agreement in Spanish or 
Chinese and failed to give the notice in that language. Reg 8.22.060.A.3. 



3 
 

RECOMMENDED OUTCOME 

 The Office of the City Attorney recommends that the Hearing Officer’s decision 
dismissing the petition be upheld. Substantial evidence supports the hearing officer’s 
decision that at least the tenant in unit 2900 commenced the tenancy after September 
20, 2016 and was not served a RAP notice in all three languages as required by the 
ordinance for tenancies.  

Reg 8.22.060.A.3 applied penalties immediately for failing to provide translated 
notices to limited English proficiency tenants still gave only a one-year grace period for 
owners to avoid penalties to provide all tenants with the RAP notice in all three 
languages. This one-year grace period and lack of one after September 2017 indicate 
that the Rent Board intend owners to strictly comply with the requirement to provide 
RAP notices in all three languages after September 2017. 

 



1 
 

 

                                                        CITY OF OAKLAND   
                                 Rent Adjustment Program 

    

MEMORANDUM 

Date:     July 11, 2023 

To:     Members of the Housing, Rent Residential & Relocation     
                                  Board (HRRRB)     
 
From:    Kent Qian, Deputy City Attorney 

Re:  Appeal Recommendation in T22-0124, Benafield v. Equity 
Avg LLC                          

Appeal Hearing Date:       July 13, 2023 
 

Property Address:   31 Somerset Road, Oakland, CA 

     

BACKGROUND 

  Tenants filed a petition alleging an unlawful rent increase from $1,429 to $1,753, which 

they later clarified that the challenge was to an invoice they received from the owner stating that 

the tenants owed $1,753 for garbage collection from the beginning of 2019 through March 2022. 

They also alleged decreased housing services.  

RULING ON THE CASE 

 The hearing decision ruled that the garbage collection charges violated Rent Adjustment 

Program Regulations Appendix A, section 10.1.10’s prohibition on splitting utilities. The hearing 

officer also found that the tenants were owed restitution and were entitled to ongoing rent 

decreases due to discontinued housekeeping and for lighting problems.  

FIRST APPEAL 

 The owner appealed the decision, arguing that:  

(1) The waste management bills were charged separately for each unit and attaches new 

evidence with quarterly bills for each unit; 

(2) Because the waste management bills were addressed the owner, the hearing officer 

assumed that the bills were divided while in fact waste management was individually 

billed by unit. 



2 
 

The Board remanded the decision back to the hearing officer to identify what evidence in 

the record was relied on to support the finding that the waste management was a split utility. 

REMAND DECISION 

 The hearing officer affirmed the earlier ruling that the waste management was a split 

utility based on the record in the initial hearing. The hearing officer primarily relied on the history 

of the ledgers that the tenant received and the fact that no waste management bills were 

actually submitted into evidence. 

CURRENT APPEAL 

The owner again appealed the decision, arguing that:  

(1) Substantial evidence does not support the hearing officer’s finding that the waste 

management bill was split. 

(2) Landlord were never put on notice of the split utilities claim in the petition because the 

tenant’s petition only claimed that they were back billed for past waste management. 

 

ISSUES 

1. Does substantial evidence support the hearing officer’s conclusion that charging for 

garbage collection violated the prohibition on splitting utilities? 

 

APPLICABLE LAW AND PAST BOARD DECISIONS 

I.  Decreased Housing Services Claim – Splitting Utility Bills 

 

T17-0575 Titcomb v. Vineyard-Ide    
Board affirmed Hearing Decision where the decision granted restitution for the tenant’s 
payments towards garbage (which the owner was responsible for per the lease) and 
water bills (that were not separately metered and amounted to “splitting utilities” in 
violation of the Ordinance). 
 
T16-0037 Tabet v. Siu       
Board panel affirmed Hearing Decision that owner cannot transfer water bill to the tenant 
even though the lease provision stated that the tenant was responsible for water bill due 
to a shared meter. Although the owner subsequently installed a separate water meter, 
he was not allowed to enforce the lease provision because the lease provision was an 
illegal provision at the time it was made. 

 

 



3 
 

RECOMMENDED OUTCOME 

 The office of the City Attorney recommends that the Board remand Hearing 
Officer’s decision only with respect to the waste management bill to accept the owner’s 
waste management bills into evidence, with a hearing to be held if necessary. Here, the 
evidence in the record does not clearly support the hearing officer’s conclusion that the 
waste management bill was split, and the owner’s new evidence would help explain the 
precise nature of the waste management billing.   

Allowing the waste management bills to be submitted as late evidence may be 
properly considered late filing for good cause since the owner may not have known that 
split utilities was an issue in the case when the petition mentioned back billing of waste 
management but not precisely split utilities. 

 
 




